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Message from the Mayor and the 
Chair of the Executive Committee

Inclusive recovery
In 2021, Montréal proved more resilient and future-
focused than ever. Thanks to the concerted eff orts of 
all the central services and boroughs, fi scal year 2021 
resulted in a considerable non-consolidated surplus 
of $293.1 million.

This is outstanding news, since this added leeway 
will make it easier for us to resume the normal 
operations that make our City so strong. Moreover, 
we are confi dent that Montréal will quickly rediscover 
its pre-pandemic vitality, notably thanks to the funds 
invested in the downtown core and to support the 
business community.

Despite a year that was again overshadowed by 
COVID-19, we remained focused on the future of 
the City by relaunching major security, housing, 
economic development, and ecological transition 
projects.

We are proud that, along with our many partners, we 
succeeded in keeping the human factor central to our 
decisions, thereby further strengthening solidarity, 
equity, and inclusion.

Climate, security and housing
We repeat: Security is an absolute priority. In total, 
18.8% of our overall revenue has been allocated 
to maintaining or improving security. In addition, 
$8 million has been added to a budget created to 
respond to a recent rise in armed incidents.

With respect to housing, given the enactment of 
the By-law for a Diverse Metropolis, we fast-tracked 
development of many social and community 
dwellings, 4,400 of which were completed or 
nearing completion at year end.

With respect to the ecological transition, all of the 
City’s teams mobilized to accelerate and increase 
the City’s resilience to climate change.

In addition, the fi rst measures of the 2020-2030 
Climate Plan, which aims to reduce Montréal’s 
greenhouse-gas (GHG) emissions by 55%, were 
deployed. As a result, an initiative to plant 500,000 
trees over a 10-year period has already begun.

Furthermore, we continued to develop the 2050 
Urban Design and Mobility Plan by adopting the City 
Vision, a document that is guiding Montréal towards 
a greener and more inclusive and resilient City. Our 
administration also adopted the Transportation 
Electrifi cation Strategy in 2021.

To summarize, we are proud of how Ville de 
Montréal has responsibly managed the public 
fi nances in 2021 and of the actions taken by our 
organization during this pivotal fi scal year.

Valérie Plante
Mayor of Montréal

Dominique Ollivier
Chair of the Executive Committee
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Message from the City manager

The year 2021 was again affected by the COVID-19 
pandemic, the effects of which were felt across 
almost all of Ville de Montréal’s operational and 
financial activities.

Our municipal teams adapted to the daily challenges 
presented by the various health measures, as they 
worked to maintain public services and to support the 
most vulnerable individuals, in particular the homeless 
and organizations. An amount of $39.1 million 
was allocated to managing health measures at the 
emergency response coordination office (Centre de 
coordination des mesures d’urgence (CCMU)).

We can be proud of Ville de Montréal’s 2021 financial 
year, which concluded with a non-consolidated 
operating surplus for tax purposes of $293.1 million.

Our management approach was disciplined,  
skillful, responsible, and consistent with our vision of 
maintaining the quality of life of the people in all of 
the City’s neighbourhoods, without losing sight of its 
future. The City began to deploy its first ten-year capital 
works program (PDI), a long-term planning initiative, 
and relaunched major security, housing, economic 
development, and ecological transition projects.

The City continued to improve its budget process 
to make it more accessible and transparent. In fact, 
some 20,000 Montrealers voted for their choices  
from among 620 ideas submitted as part of the  
City’s first participatory budget. The projects 
retained will contribute to Montréal’s ecological  
and social transition.

Encouraged by this experience, the City is committed 
to repeating the exercise. In addition, in developing 
the 2022 budget, a third pre-budgetary consultation 
was organized to obtain opinions from the public and 
Montréal organizations on numerous topics, including 
economic recovery, ecological transition, and the 
City’s appeal to families.

The projects draw inspiration from the action areas 
set out in the Montréal 2030 strategic plan, which 
we are committed to implementing thanks to, 
among other things, the new strategic planning and 
organizational performance department.

Lastly, the City demonstrated its agility and is now 
even more efficient thanks to its implementation of 
a hybrid work model, which is supported by the first 
policy on the topic.

I would like to thank all of Ville de Montréal’s 
employees, who work tirelessly to provide 
continuously improving services to Montrealers.

Serge Lamontagne 
City Manager
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Message from the treasurer  

Ladies, Gentlemen

This financial report consists of three sections.  
The first section presents the City’s consolidated 
financial data; the second provides an analysis of 
the municipal administration’s financial information, 
excluding organizations that are part of the City’s 
reporting entity; and the third section provides climate-
related financial disclosure, as recommended by the 
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures. 

In 2021, as was the case in 2020, many organizations 
were significantly affected by the pandemic, both 
from an operating and financial standpoint.  
And Montréal was no exception.

Thanks to sound management and respect  
for the financial context, fiscal year 2021 concluded 
with a non-consolidated operating surplus for 
tax purposes of $293.1 million, or 4.9% of the 
City’s non-consolidated total revenues. This 
non-consolidated surplus is a result of revenues 
exceeding the tabled operating budget, and it 
breaks down as follows: A $359.7 million surplus 
for local responsibilities ($442.6 million in 2020) 
and a $66.6 million deficit for urban agglomeration 
responsibilities ($195.6 million deficit in 2020).  
The $66.6 million deficit was partly due to 
$38.0 million in public safety costs, specifically the 
costs to implement the health measures imposed 
by the provincial government in response to the 
pandemic. As for the management surplus of 
the boroughs (included in the surplus for local 
responsibilities), it stood at $108.6 million  
($92.5 million in 2020). 

Total revenues amounted to $6,036.5 million, up 
$146.3 million (2.5%) from the operating budget. 
Again this year, a vibrant real estate market 
in Montréal generated additional revenues of 
$161.3 million, specifically $134.3 million in property 
transfer fees and $27.0 million from the issuance of 
construction permits. Support from other levels of 
government, resulting in an $81.3 million increase  
in transfers, helped the City face the pandemic-
related challenges. However, these increases were 
affected by a decrease in certain other revenues.  
With respect to taxes, there was a $14.2 million 
(0.4%) decrease compared with the amount set out 
in the 2021 budget. This decrease was partly due to 

delays in certain construction projects, which resulted 
in certain taxes being deferred to future years. 

As for revenues from services rendered, the situation 
mirrored that of 2020. Given the health measures in 
effect, many activities were cancelled, resulting in a 
$22.7 million net decrease, including $6.9 million in 
parking and meter revenues, $21.9 million for cultural 
and recreational activities, and $14.0 million for City-
charged technical services. However, these decreases 
were partly offset by a notable $16.6 million increase 
in revenues from public property occupancy permits.

Another sector affected by the health measures was 
that of fines and penalties, which saw a $58.8 million 
decrease, $45.7 million of which came from traffic 
and parking ticket revenues and $13.1 million of 
which came from revenues from fines and penalties 
related to municipal by-laws, provincial legislation, 
and the Criminal Code. 

The City’s operating expenditures for tax purposes, 
financing expenses, and allocation expenditures 
stood at $5,743.4 million, a positive variance of 
$146.8 million (2.5%) from the budget. As for 
operating expenditures, there were net savings  
of $87.6 million, consisting of $206.0 million in 
overall savings from certain types of expenditures, 
partly offset by a $118.4 million overall increase 
in other types of expenditures. Specifically, the 
$206.0 million in savings came mainly from the 
following expenditures: professional and technical 
services ($31.2 million), leasing, maintenance, 
and repair ($16.0 million), non-durable goods 
($16.0 million), transportation ($7.4 million),  
benefits costs ($13.9 million), debt financing  
($16.8 million) and other items ($104.7 million). 
This $104.7 million variance came primarily from a 
decrease in contingency expenditures ($26.9 million), 
a decrease in the allowance for bad debts 
($9.4 million), budget transfers of $50.0 million in 
order to pay this amount in the form of contributions 
to various organizations supported under the City’s 
recovery plan, a $10.6 million decrease in costs 
following the cancellation of cultural events or in 
reduced management fees paid resulting from lower 
attendance caused by the pandemic.
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The above decreases in expenditures were partly 
offset by a $118.4 million overall increase in certain 
expenditures, specifically, increases in the following 
expenditures:

• a $102.3 million increase in total compensation, 
consisting of $49.2 million for current 
compensation and $52.6 million for overtime, 
$34.9 million of which was for police services 
related to general and unusual operations and 
$12.7 million of which was for the fire department, 
notably related to limited replacements 
between fire stations (COVID-19) and preventive 
withdrawals for chronic illnesses, as well as  
to operations.

• a $10.5 million increase in durable goods,  
resulting from $4.9 million in investments in  
the urban forest management plan and from 
$4.3 million for the boroughs in connection with 
the Canopy Action Plan, equipment in parks and 
playgrounds, tools, minor works, and street furniture.

• $5.6 million increase in financial contributions.

In addition, given that, in the coming years every 
city will have to deal with the significant impacts 
of various upheavals and climate change, Ville 
de Montréal’s financial report now includes an 
unaudited section that provides climate-related 
financial disclosure.

In closing, I would like to applaud the professionalism 
of the City’s employees, who work hard every day to 
provide all of the municipal services.  

Yves Courchesne, CPA, CGA 
Treasurer of Ville de Montréal
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Introduction – Financial Information of the Municipal Administration 
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2021 

NON-CONSOLIDATED OPERATING SURPLUS (DEFICIT) FOR TAX PURPOSES BY RESPONSIBILITY (in thousands of dollars)
2020

Total
Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Actual

Revenues
Taxes 3,657,339         3,642,464         50,090              50,759                  -                      -                        3,707,429         3,693,223         3,661,052         
Payments in lieu of taxes 285,333            285,843            -                      -                           -                      -                        285,333            285,843            279,133            
Quota shares -                      -                      2,507,711         2,506,481              (2,070,135)        (2,067,728)         437,576            438,753            424,496            
Transfers 215,205            256,920            196,468            236,085                -                      -                        411,673            493,005            825,162            
Services rendered 298,826            283,360            63,763              57,371                  (1,401)              (2,211)                361,188            338,520            281,776            
Fee collection 277,038            440,118            1,969               161                       -                      -                        279,007            440,279            342,278            
Fines and penalties 109,704            79,238              109,561            81,188                  -                      -                        219,265            160,426            129,092            
Interest 83,027              76,491              88,213              70,849                  -                      -                        171,240            147,340            148,581            

16,525              28,908              1,019               10,231                  -                      -                        17,544              39,139              39,553              

4,942,997         5,093,342         3,018,794         3,013,125              (2,071,536)        (2,069,939)         5,890,255         6,036,528         6,131,123         
Operating expenditures

General administration 575,894            478,022            341,064            324,407                (202)                 (185)                  916,756            802,244            737,868            
Public security 8,757               10,472              1,079,844         1,184,786              (396)                 (762)                  1,088,205         1,194,496         1,187,619         
Transportation 506,104            490,997            670,347            654,639                (61)                   (325)                  1,176,390         1,145,311         1,107,712         
Environmental hygiene 237,542            235,785            240,813            234,526                (401)                 (596)                  477,954            469,715            471,118            
Health and welfare 57,970              60,161              118,973            123,490                (1)                     -                        176,942            183,651            147,556            
Urban planning and development 199,986            172,075            114,193            117,808                (282)                 (288)                  313,897            289,595            234,531            
Recreation and culture 497,588            493,236            129,505            128,165                (58)                   (55)                    627,035            621,346            594,779            
Financing expenses 280,641            268,870            142,755            137,746                -                      -                        423,396            406,616            396,696            
Net impact of restructuring operations -                      -                      -                      -                           -                      -                        -                      -                      9,596               

2,364,482         2,209,618         2,837,494         2,905,567              (1,401)              (2,211)                5,200,575         5,112,974         4,887,475         
Quota shares for financing

urban agglomeration activities 2,070,135         2,067,728         -                      -                           (2,070,135)        (2,067,728)         -                      -                      -                      

Operating surplus before financing and allocations 508,380            815,996            181,300            107,558                -                      -                        689,680            923,554            1,243,648         

Financing
Repayment of long-term debt (428,118)           (425,486)           (146,928)           (143,181)               -                      -                        (575,046)           (568,667)           (534,848)           

Allocations
Investing activities in capital assets and in loans -                      (4,559)              -                      1,832                    -                      -                        -                      (2,727)              (11,436)             
Restricted operating  surplus 236,810            266,281            (21,294)             1,704                    -                      -                        215,516            267,985            156,107            
Financial reserves and reserved funds (291,187)           (289,477)           (100,651)           (189,257)               -                      -                        (391,838)           (478,734)           (675,833)           
Recognized expenditures to be taxed or funded (25,885)             (3,095)              87,573              154,757                -                      -                        61,688              151,662            69,358              

(80,262)             (30,850)             (34,372)             (30,964)                 -                      -                        (114,634)           (61,814)             (461,804)           

Operating surplus (deficit) for tax purposes
for the year -                      359,660            -                      (66,587)                 -                      -                        -                      293,073            246,996            

Total

2021

Other revenues

Local responsibilities Urban agglomeration responsibilities Eliminations

 





The 19 boroughs of the city of Montréal 

The 15 reconstituted cities on the Island of Montréal

Montréal total population:  1,784,681

Total population of the Island of Montréal:  2,033,041

Note: Population estimates for 2022, Gazette o	cielle du Québec, December 29, 2021, 1516-2021.
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The Municipal  
Organization
The affairs of the city are administered through divided urban 
agglomeration and local powers. Montréal, in its capacity as 
the central city, continues to provide services and manage 
common equipment for all residents of the Island of Montréal, 
both on city territory and on the territory of its 15 reconstituted 
municipalities. 

Collective services are provided by Ville de Montréal employees. 
Since 2009, Montréal’s 16 related municipalities have been 
funding all urban agglomeration collective services through 
aliquot shares. This approach to funding the urban agglomeration 
of Montréal was introduced by the Act to amend various legislative 
provisions concerning Montréal (Bill 22), adopted in June, 2008. 

The act also amends other elements under urban agglomeration 
council authority pertaining to thoroughfares and the arterial 
road system across the urban agglomeration territory. Thus the 
central municipality’s exclusive responsibility over thoroughfares 
and roads is limited to determining standards for harmonizing 
the rules governing signaling and traffic control, the general 
system planning, as well as some work covered under the  
Act respecting the exercise of certain municipal powers in certain 
urban agglomerations (CQLR, c.E-20.001). Other activities related 
to arterial thoroughfares on urban agglomeration territory that 
are not covered by the Act, remain under local powers. 

Moreover, several items were removed from the list of 
equipment, infrastructure and activities of collective interest 
provided in the schedule to the Order in council concerning 
the urban agglomeration of Montréal (1229-2005 and 
amendments). The items removed include large parks, cultural 
facilities, festivities and festivals. Also, following the adoption 
of the Act to amend various legislative provisions concerning 
municipal affairs (Bill 120), as of January 1, 2017, Ville de 
Montréal is in charge of repaying loans contracted by the 
urban agglomeration council of Montréal to fund expenditures 
incurred in the exercise of the urban agglomeration power 
relating to the development and redevelopment of public 
land in the urban agglomeration sector designated as the 
downtown area. 

Following the adoption of the Act to increase the autonomy 
and powers of Ville de Montréal, the metropolis of Québec 
(Bill 121) namely amending the Act respecting the exercise of 
certain municipal powers in certain urban agglomerations (CQLR, 
c.E-20.001), road service and vehicle towing and impounding 
are now under urban agglomeration jurisdiction. Vehicle 
towing related to snow removal operations has however been 
delegated to every related municipality on April 18, 2019, 
under the de Urban agglomeration council by-law concerning  
the delegation of powers to related municipalities regarding 
towing (RCG 19-016). 

Urban agglomeration powers 
Urban agglomeration powers pertain to services provided to 
the population of the Island of Montréal, and are exercised 
by the urban agglomeration council. In regard of collective 
services, this political entity may adopt by-laws, authorize 
taxes and impose aliquot shares across the territory of the 
Island of Montréal. The structure of the urban agglomeration 
council is light and participatory. The mayor of Montréal 
designates Ville de Montréal representatives who sit with 
her on the urban agglomeration council, as mandated by city 
council. City council determines the orientations of elected 
officials on the urban agglomeration council. The same applies 
to all mayors of reconstituted municipalities, who represent the 
orientations of their respective city or town council. 

The urban agglomeration council of Montréal is made up  
of 31 elected officials:

• The mayor of Montréal, who is also the chair;

• 15 elected officials from Montréal’s city council,  
as designated by the mayor;

• 14 mayors of Montréal’s reconstituted municipalities 
including an appointed vice-chair (L’Île-Dorval and Dorval 
share a single representative);

• An additional elected official is designated by the mayor of 
Dollard-des-Ormeaux to represent that municipality (due to 
the size of its population). 

The urban agglomeration council provides proportional 
representation to the 16 related municipalities, according to 
their demographic share: 87.8% for Montréal and 12.2% for the 
15 reconstituted municipalities. 

Local powers 
In accordance with the Charter of Ville de Montréal, Metropolis 
of Québec (RLRQ, c. C-11.4), the city’s local powers are shared 
between city council and borough councils. 

Montréal city council holds local powers across the territory of 
Montréal, which includes 19 boroughs. Borough councils ensure 
the provision of local services on their respective territories. 

City council is made up of the mayor of Montréal, who is 
also exofficio mayor of Ville-Marie borough, and of 64 city 
councillors, including 18 borough mayors. Borough councils, 
constituted under the Order in council 645-2005, are made up 
of a minimum of 5 members, including the borough mayor, 
city councillor or councillors, and, as the case may be, borough 
councillors representing that borough. Overall, the 19 boroughs 
are represented by 46 councillors who also sit on city council, 
and by 38 borough councillors. 

The cost inherent to local services provided on the territory of 
Ville de Montréal is paid from local property taxes imposed. 
In some cases, taxpayers in a given borough may, according 
to decisions by their borough council, be required to pay a 
borough tax for local services.
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Summary of powers 

Urban Agglomeration Powers 
• Property assessment 

• Police, fire department and public safety 

• First responder services, except in the case of the  
City of Côte Saint-Luc 

• The 911 emergency centre 

• The development and adoption of the civil protection  
plan and the fire safety cover plan 

• The Municipal Court 

• Social housing 

• Assistance for homeless persons 

• The prevention and fight against drug addiction  
and prostitution 

• The disposal and reclamation of residual materials and any 
other aspect of their management if they are hazardous 

• The development and adoption of a residual waste 
management plan 

• Municipal lakes and watercourses 

• Water supply and water purification equipment and 
infrastructure, except local conduits 

• Passenger transportation 

• Determining standards for harmonizing the rules governing 
the general road system planning, as well as some specific 
work 

• Economic promotion, including the promotion of tourism, 
when it is done outside the territory of a related municipality

• Measures to promote local and regional development 
(powers provided under sections 126.2 to 126.4 of the 
Municipal Powers Act (RLRQ, c. C-47.1))

• Tourist services 

• Industrial parks 

• The Conseil des arts de Montréal 

• The Schéma d’aménagement

• Equipment, infrastructure and activities of collective interest 
listed in the schedule to the Order in council concerning 
the urban agglomeration of Montréal (1229-2005 and 
amendments) 

• The contribution towards the deficit of Espace pour la vie 

• Road service and vehicle towing and impounding

• The power to conclude and apply agreements under  
section 29.2 of the Cities and Towns Act (RLRQ, c. C-19)  
(food inspection)

• All other powers formerly under the responsibility of the 
Communauté urbaine de Montréal now under the authority 
of the city (such as regional parks)

Local Powers
• Urban planning (except the Schéma d’aménagement)

• By-laws concerning construction, nuisances and sanitation 

• Housing (except social housing)

• Fire and public safety prevention 

• The collection and transportation of residual waste 

• The management of local streets and thoroughfares 

• Conduits which, within the waterworks and sewer systems, 
are local in nature 

• Local sports and recreation equipment 

• Local libraries 

• Local parks 

• Local economic, community, cultural and social development 

• Heritage 

• The environment

• The Commission des services électriques de Montréal

• Commercial development organizations 

• The industrial parks listed in By-law RCG 06-020 

• Organization of elections
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Management Responsibility for Financial Reporting 
 
 
 
 
 
The consolidated financial statements in this report are prepared in accordance with Canadian public 
sector accounting standards, as described in Note 2 to these consolidated financial statements. 
 
The consolidated financial statements and all other information in this annual financial report and in 
the Reddition de comptes financière and in the Faits saillants are the responsibility of the city’s 
management. Management has also ensured consistency between the consolidated financial 
statements and all other information disclosed in the annual financial report and in the Reddition de 
comptes financière and in the Faits saillants. 
 
To assess certain facts and operations, the city’s management has made estimates based on its best 
judgment of the situation and by taking materiality into account. 
 
Management is responsible for maintaining appropriate internal control and accounting systems that 
provide reasonable assurance that the city's policies are adopted, that its operations are carried out 
in accordance with the appropriate laws and authorizations, that its assets are adequately 
safeguarded, and that the consolidated financial statements are based on reliable accounting 
records. 
 
The city's powers and responsibilities are exercised either by the Urban Agglomeration CounciI, the 
City Council, or by the borough councils. 
 
The Audit Committee is made up of at most ten members, at least three of which are city councillors, 
two of which are members of the agglomeration council representing the reconstituted municipalities 
and at least three of which are independent members. Its responsibilities include overseeing financial 
reporting and presentation procedures, which includes reviewing the consolidated financial statement 
and other information contained in this annual financial report. 
 
The Auditor General of Ville de Montréal and the independent auditor, Deloitte LLP, have audited the 
consolidated financial statements and presented the following reports. 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                   
 
        Yves Courchesne     Serge Lamontagne 
 
                                               
 
     Montréal, May 5, 2022 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 
 
To the Mayor, 
The Chair and the Members of the Executive Committee, 
The Members of the City Council of Ville de Montréal, 
The Members of the Montreal Agglomeration Council 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ville de Montréal (the « City »), which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021, and the consolidated statements of operations, change in net debt and 
cash flows for the year then ended, notes and explanatory information to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies (hereinafter referred to as the «financial statements»).  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the City as at December 31, 2021, and the results of its operations, the changes in its net debt and its cash flows for the year the 
ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards of Canada. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the City in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 
in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  
 
Emphasis of Matter-Financial Information Presented for Tax Purpose  
We draw attention to the fact that the City includes in its financial statements certain financial information which is not required under 
Canadian public sector accounting standards prepared for tax purposes in its financial statements. This information is presented in 
Note 14 of the financial statements. Management has decided to present this information, as it deems it necessary for a more in-
depth and relevant analysis of the activities carried out. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.  
 
Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon 
Management is responsible for other information. Other information comprises the information, other than the financial statements 
and the auditors’ report thereon, include in the Annual Financial Report, the Reddition de comptes financière and the Faits saillants. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibilities is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit and remain alert for indications that the other information appears to be materially 
misstated. 
 
We obtained the Annual Financial Report, the Reddition de comptes financière and the Faits saillants as at the date of this auditors' 
report. If, based on the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact in the auditors' report. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with the Canadian 
public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the City’s ability to continue its operations, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis accounting unless the management 
either attend to liquidate the City or to cease its operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the City’s financial reporting process.  
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards of Canada will always detect a material misstatement when it exits. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards of Canada, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and 

perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or override of internal control. 
 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by management. 
 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern assumption and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the City’s ability 
to continue its operations. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the City to cease its operations.  

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 

financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  
 

• Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities and activities within the group 
to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  
 
 

 
 

 

 

Michèle Galipeau, FCPA auditor, FCA  
Auditor General of the Ville de Montréal 

1 CPA auditor, CA, public accountancy permit No A116207 
  

 

 

 
 
Montréal, Québec  
May 5, 2022 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at December 31, 2021 
 

Notes 2021 2020

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3 1,461,943 1,547,479 
Investments 4 3,069,046 2,768,920 
Accounts receivable 5 5,719,700 5,233,186 
Assets held for sale 1,937 1,970 
Loans receivable 6 117,051 95,739 

10,369,677 9,647,294 

Liabilities
Temporary loans 7 799,672 699,696 
Accounts payable, provisions and accrued liabilities 8 2,568,941 2,500,671 
Deferred revenues 9 729,533 730,244 
Long-term debt 10 14,818,637 13,941,850 
Employee future benefits liability 11 404,566 391,692 

19,321,349 18,264,153 

Net debt (8,951,672) (8,616,859)

Non-financial assets
Capital assets 12 22,006,922 19,988,315 
Assets held for sale 161,760 164,679 
Inventories  118,995 118,244 
Other non-financial assets 13 151,141 301,863 

22,438,818 20,573,101 

Accumulated surplus 14 13,487,146 11,956,242 

Contractual rights and obligations 18

Contingent assets 19

Contingent liabilities 20

Subsequent event 21

Organization and governance of shared transportation in the 
Montreal Metropolitain area 23

(in thousands of dollars)

 

The accompanying schedules, notes and tables are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Operations 
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2021 
 

Notes 2021 2021 2020
Consolidated 

budget 1 Actual Actual
Revenues

Taxes 3,684,024           3,666,786           3,634,485           
Payments in lieu of taxes 285,333              285,843              279,133              
Quota shares 437,576              438,753              424,496              
Transfers 15 1,978,536           2,007,516           1,682,658           
Services rendered 1,894,786           1,794,182           1,762,070           
Fee collection 279,007              440,279              342,278              
Fines and penalties 219,265              160,426              129,092              
Interest 16 133,412              110,506              133,537              
Other revenues 91,488               112,501              118,547              

9,003,427           9,016,792           8,506,296           
Expenditures

General administration 915,336              801,674              736,314              
Public security 1,104,544           1,210,525           1,203,017           
Transportation 3,135,876           3,047,638           3,011,720           
Environmental hygiene 584,495              573,251              572,341              
Health and welfare 222,843              221,532              196,862              
Urban planning and development 338,264              368,842              285,203              
Recreation and culture 776,754              769,368              731,243              
Financing expenses 528,613              493,058              489,673              

7,606,725           7,485,888           7,226,373           

Surplus for the year 1,396,702           1,530,904           1,279,923           

Accumulated surplus at beginning of year 11,956,242         11,956,242         10,676,319         

Accumulated surplus at end of year 13,352,944         13,487,146         11,956,242         

(in thousands of dollars)

 

1 Table 5 provides budget data information. 
 

The accompanying schedules, notes and tables are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of the Change in Net Debt 
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2021 
 

Note 2021 2021 2020

Consolidated 
budget Actual Actual

Surplus for the year 1,396,702           1,530,904           1,279,923           

Change in capital assets
Acquisition 12 (3,552,098)          (2,985,684)          (2,609,519)          
Proceeds from sale 4,174                 11,810               9,147                 
Amortization 12 937,071              963,688              902,366              
Gain on sale (4,174)                (8,421)                (2,064)                

(2,615,027)          (2,018,607)          (1,700,070)          

Change in assets held for sale -                        2,919                 (6,835)                
Change in inventories -                        (751)                   (20,110)              
Change in other non-financial assets -                        150,722              (170,312)             

-                        152,890              (197,257)             

Change in net debt (1,218,325)          (334,813)             (617,404)             

Net debt at beginning of year (8,616,859)          (8,616,859)          (7,999,455)          

Net debt at end of year (9,835,184)          (8,951,672)          (8,616,859)          

(in thousands of dollars)

 

The accompanying schedules, notes and tables are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2021 

Notes 2021 2020

Operating activities
Surplus for the year 1,530,904           1,279,923           
Items not affecting cash

Amortization of capital assets 12 963,688              902,366 
Gain on sale of capital assets (8,421) (2,064) 
Transfer of capital assets 1 15 (56,003) - 
Impairment on loans 6 55,258 29,200 
Discounting of loans 937 (1,719) 

2,486,363           2,207,706           
Change in non-cash items

Accounts receivable (486,514)             (176,052)             
Assets held for sale 2,952 (6,835) 
Accounts payables, provisions, and accrued liabilities 2 47,741 80,410 
Deferred revenues (711) 153,105 
Employee future benefits liability 12,874 83,041 
Inventories (751) (20,110) 

(48,933) (6,732) 

2,013,021           2,314,533           
Capital asset activities

Acquisition of capital assets 1, 2 (2,909,152)          (2,502,818)          
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 11,810 9,147 
Change in deposits to purchase metro cars 3 57,335 (22,027) 
Change in other deposits to purchase capital assets 3 142,320              (141,553)             

(2,697,687)          (2,657,251)          
Investing activities

Acquisition of investments (794,451)             (531,901)             
Proceeds from sale of investments 494,325              502,789 
Issuance of loans (79,486) (67,114) 
Repayment of loans 1,979 1,494 

(377,633)             (94,732) 
Financing activities

Proceeds from long-term debt 1,954,555           1,589,698           
Repayment of long-term debt, net of refinancing (981,661)             (625,014)             
Bond redemption by refinancing (96,107) (3,789) 
Net change in temporary loans 99,976 121,300 

976,763              1,082,195           

(Decrease)/Increase in cash and cash equivalents (85,536) 644,745 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,547,479           902,734 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 1,461,943           1,547,479           

(in thousands of dollars)

Other non-financial assets 3

1 In 2021, the City received a transfer of capital assets from the Government of Québec. This amount, which had no impact on cash flows, was 
subtracted from acquisitions of capital assets. 

2 The cost of unpaid capital assets is $787.5 million as at December 31, 2021 ($767.0 million in 2020). The change in this cost between 2021 
and 2020 is subtracted from accounts payable, provisions and accrued liabilities as well as from acquisitions since there is no impact on cash 
flows. 

3 The amount of deposits to purchase capital assets as at December 31, 2021 is $23.6 million ($223.3 million in 2020). The change in this 
amount between 2021 and 2020 is subtracted from other non-financial assets and added to capital investing activities. 

The accompanying schedules, notes and tables are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Segment Disclosures 
As at December 31, 2021 
 

SCHEDULE 1 – CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION BY ORGANIZATION (in thousands of dollars)
2020

Municipal Controlled
administration organizations Eliminations Total Total

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,147,470           314,473              -                        1,461,943           1,547,479           
Investments 2,720,843           348,203              -                        3,069,046           2,768,920           
Accounts receivable 3,778,258           3,524,490           (1,583,048)          5,719,700           5,233,186           
Assets held for sale 1,592                 345                    -                        1,937                 1,970                 
Loans receivable 116,076              975                    -                        117,051              95,739               

7,764,239           4,188,486           (1,583,048)          10,369,677         9,647,294           

Liabilities
Temporary loans 99,938               699,734              -                        799,672              699,696              
Accounts payable, provisions and accrued liabilities 1,976,356           636,988              (44,403)              2,568,941           2,500,671           
Deferred revenues 655,082              74,451               -                        729,533              730,244              
Long-term debt 11,600,273         4,757,009           (1,538,645)          14,818,637         13,941,850         
Employee future benefits liability 214,218              190,348              -                        404,566              391,692              

14,545,867         6,358,530           (1,583,048)          19,321,349         18,264,153         

Net debt (6,781,628)          (2,170,044)          -                        (8,951,672)          (8,616,859)          

Non-financial assets
Capital assets 13,707,053         8,299,869           -                        22,006,922         19,988,315         
Assets held for sale 161,760              -                        -                        161,760              164,679              
Inventories 50,247               68,748               -                        118,995              118,244              
Other non-financial assets 80,316               70,825               -                        151,141              301,863              

13,999,376         8,439,442           -                        22,438,818         20,573,101         

Accumulated surplus
Unrestricted operating surplus 102,432              -                        -                        102,432              72,492               
Restricted operating surplus 644,187              51,469               -                        695,656              701,548              
Financial reserves and reserved funds 649,148              172,725              -                        821,873              476,792              
Deficit of investing activities in capital assets and
in loans (523,211)             (639,500)             -                        (1,162,711)          (995,553)             
Recognized expenditures to be taxed or funded (1,372,462)          (110,599)             31,358               (1,451,703)          (1,313,527)          
Net investment in capital assets 7,717,654           6,795,303           (31,358)              14,481,599         13,014,490         

7,217,748           6,269,398           -                        13,487,146         11,956,242         

2021
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Segment Disclosures 
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2021 
 

SCHEDULE 2 – CONSOLIDATED ITEMIZED OPERATIONS BY ORGANIZATION (in thousands of dollars)
2020

Municipal Controlled
administration organizations Eliminations Total Total

Revenues
Operating
Taxes 3,693,223           -                        (26,437)              3,666,786           3,634,485           
Payments in lieu of taxes 285,843              -                        -                        285,843              279,133              
Quota shares 438,753              -                        -                        438,753              424,496              
Transfers 493,005              117,850              (48,179) 562,676              900,104              
Services rendered 338,520              1,596,091           (140,429)             1,794,182           1,762,070           
Fee collection 440,279              -                        -                        440,279              342,278              
Fines and penalties 160,426              -                        -                        160,426              129,092              
Interest 147,340              10,178               (47,012)              110,506              133,537              
Other revenues 36,651               33,452               -                        70,103               65,675               

6,034,040           1,757,571           (262,057)             7,529,554           7,670,870           

Investment in capital assets and in loans
Transfers 448,586              996,254              -                        1,444,840           782,554              
Developers' contributions 7,468                 -                        -                        7,468                 16,963               
Other revenues 15,746               19,184               -                        34,930               35,909               

471,800              1,015,438           -                        1,487,238           835,426              

6,505,840           2,773,009           (262,057)             9,016,792           8,506,296           

Expenditures
General administration 810,548              30                      (8,904)                801,674              736,314              
Public security 1,211,030           -                        (505)                   1,210,525           1,203,017           
Transportation 1,438,062           1,756,432           (146,856)             3,047,638           3,011,720           
Environmental hygiene 574,350              -                        (1,099)                573,251              572,341              
Health and welfare 184,536              55,068               (18,072)              221,532              196,862              
Urban planning and development 365,134              6,035                 (2,327)                368,842              285,203              
Recreation and culture 765,161              41,489               (37,282)              769,368              731,243              
Financing expenses 406,616              133,454              (47,012)              493,058              489,673              

5,755,437           1,992,508           (262,057)             7,485,888           7,226,373           

Surplus for the year 750,403              780,501              -                        1,530,904           1,279,923           

2021
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Segment Disclosures 
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2021 
 

SCHEDULE 3 – CONSOLIDATED OPERATING SURPLUS FOR TAX PURPOSES BY ORGANIZATION (in thousands of dollars)
2021 2020

Consolidated Municipal Controlled
budget administration organizations Eliminations Total Total

Surplus for the year 1,396,702        750,403              780,501              -                        1,530,904           1,279,923           
Less: revenues from investing 
activities in capital assets and in loans (1,523,810)       (471,800)             (1,015,438)          -                        (1,487,238)          (835,426)             
Operating surplus (deficit) before 
reconciliation for tax purposes for the year (127,108)          278,603              (234,937)             -                        43,666               444,497              

Reconciliation for tax purposes
Capital assets

Proceeds from sale 4,174              11,115               695                    -                        11,810               9,147                 
Amortization 937,071           587,205              376,483              -                        963,688              902,366              
Gain on sale (4,174)             (8,627)                206                    -                        (8,421)                (2,064)                

937,071           589,693              377,384              -                        967,077              909,449              

Loans
Impairement on loans -                     55,258               -                        -                        55,258               29,200               

-                     55,258               -                        -                        55,258               29,200               

Financing
Repayment of long-term debt (689,812)          (568,667)             (96,043)              (12,253)              (676,963)             (651,580)             

Allocations (Note14)
Investing activities in capital assets and in loans (27,000)           (2,727)                (22,593)              -                        (25,320)              (41,276)              
Restricted operating surplus 217,016           267,985              -                        -                        267,985              156,564              
Financial reserves and reserved funds (388,399)          (478,734)             (1,224)                -                        (479,958)             (681,585)             
Recognized expenditures to be taxed or funded 80,515            151,662              (2,610)                12,253               161,305              81,229               

(117,868)          (61,814)              (26,427)              12,253               (75,988)              (485,068)             

Operating surplus
for tax purposes for the year 2,283              293,073              19,977               -                        313,050              246,498              
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Segment Disclosures 
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2021 
 

SCHEDULE 4 – CONSOLIDATED DEFICIT OF INVESTING ACTIVITIES IN CAPITAL ASSETS AND IN LOANS
             FOR TAX PURPOSES BY ORGANIZATION (in thousands of dollars)

2021 2020

Consolidated Municipal Controlled
budget administration organizations Total Total

Revenues from investing activities in capital 
assets and in loans 1,523,810         471,800              1,015,438           1,487,238           835,426              

Reconciliation for tax purposes
Capital assets

Acquisition
General administration (207,800)          (133,855)             -                        (133,855)             (92,035)              
Public security (39,400)            (35,497)              -                        (35,497)              (46,864)              
Transportation (2,001,298)        (382,733)             (1,454,252)          (1,836,985)          (1,630,418)          
Environmental hygiene (589,000)          (533,212)             -                        (533,212)             (446,491)             
Health and welfare (50,000)            (9,003)                (10,532)              (19,535)              (22,060)              
Urban planning and development (128,700)          (85,921)              (73)                     (85,994)              (84,438)              
Recreation and culture (535,900)          (340,606)             -                        (340,606)             (287,213)             

(3,552,098)        (1,520,827)          (1,464,857)          (2,985,684)          (2,609,519)          

Issuance of loans -                (78,386)              -                        (78,386)              (67,114)              

Financing
Long-term financing of investing activities
in capital assets and in loans 1,577,388         967,435              261,026              1,228,461           963,166              

Allocations (Note 14)
Operating activities 27,000             2,727                 22,593               25,320               41,276               
Restricted operating surplus 14,000             21,123               -                        21,123               12,696               
Financial reserves and reserved funds 409,900           134,770              -                        134,770              810,822              

450,900           158,620              22,593               181,213              864,794              

Deficit of investing activities in capital assets
and in loans for tax purposes for the year -                      (1,358)                (165,800)             (167,158)             (13,247)              
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Segment Disclosures 
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2021 
 

SCHEDULE 5 – CONSOLIDATED EXPENDITURES BY ITEM AND BY ORGANIZATION (in thousands of dollars)
2020

Municipal Controlled
administration organizations Eliminations Total Total

Remuneration
Elected officials 11,528             138                  -                      11,666             11,576                  
Employees 1,997,006         829,336           (24,125)            2,802,217         2,701,777             

Benefits costs
Elected officials 4,788               23                   -                      4,811               4,995                   
Employees 597,581           256,359           -                      853,940           781,157                

Transportation and communication 32,859             120,020           -                      152,879           148,336                
Professional, technical and other services

Professional fees 106,614           27,911             (80,188)            54,337             90,562                  
Purchase of technical services 362,082           55,709             (17,459)            400,332           379,325                
Other 3,651               1,928               -                      5,579               10,796                  

Leasing, maintenance and repair
Leasing 105,437           21,626             (18,353)            108,710           105,959                
Maintenance and repair 97,674             34,737             (31)                  132,380           133,530                

Durable goods
Construction 25,775             -                      -                      25,775             61,813                  
Other durable goods 7,409               42                   -                      7,451               6,282                   

Non-durable goods
Delivery of public services 75,685             11,246             (302)                 86,629             79,871                  
Other non-durable goods 157,185           92,694             (9,485)              240,394           265,188                

Financing expenses
Interest and other charges on long-term debt borne by:

The municipality 313,797           63,749             -                      377,546           363,880                
Government of Québec and its enterprises 31,845             67,482             -                      99,327             101,287                
Other third parties 66,381             -                      (47,012)            19,369             17,674                  

Other financing expenses (5,407)              2,223               -                      (3,184)              6,832                   
Contributions to organizations

Municipal organizations
Quota shares - Communauté métropolitaine de Montréal 42,690             -                      -                      42,690             41,984                  
Quota shares - Autorité régionale de transport métropolitain 622,645           -                      -                      622,645           619,946                
Other 47,760             -                      (47,760)            -                      -                          

Government organizations 17,071             -                      -                      17,071             16,929                  
Other organizations 358,034           14,037             (419)                 371,652           298,415                

Amortization of capital assets 587,205           376,483           -                      963,688           902,366                
Other items

Doubtful accounts or bad debts 14,388             238                  -                      14,626             17,744                  
Impairment on loans 55,258             -                      -                      55,258             29,200                  
Other 18,496             16,527             (16,923)            18,100             28,949                  

5,755,437         1,992,508         (262,057)          7,485,888         7,226,373             

2021
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1. GOVERNING STATUTE 

Ville de Montréal (“City”) is a municipal corporation incorporated on January 1, 2002 under the Charter of Ville de Montréal, 
metropolis of Québec (Charter of Ville de Montréal) (CQLR, chapter C-11.4). 

On January 1, 2006, following the results of a referendum held in 2004 under An Act regarding public consultation on the 
territorial reorganization of certain municipalities (S.Q. 2003, chapter 14), the former municipalities of Baie-d’Urfé, Beaconsfield, 
Côte-Saint-Luc, Dollard-Des-Ormeaux, Dorval, Hampstead, Kirkland, L’Île-Dorval, Montréal-Est, Montréal-Ouest, Mont-Royal, 
Pointe-Claire, Sainte-Anne-de-Bellevue, Village de Senneville and Westmount were reconstituted. As a result, Ville de Montréal 
now consists of 19 remaining boroughs that comprise 88% of the total population of the island of Montréal. In accordance with 
the provisions of this Act, all municipalities located on the island of Montréal, however, remain related to one another and form 
an agglomeration consistent with the territory of Ville de Montréal as it existed on December 31, 2005. 

An Act respecting the exercise of certain municipal powers in certain urban agglomerations (CQLR, chapter E-20.001), 
completed by the Montréal Agglomeration Order (Order-in-Council No. 1229-2005), and its amendments lists and defines the 
powers of the urban agglomeration. Under this Act, Ville de Montréal is the central municipality in charge of exercising, in addition 
to its local powers, the powers of the agglomeration. 

The agglomeration is headed by the City’s urban agglomeration council, a political and decision-making body vested with 
decision-making powers related to urban agglomeration responsibilities. The urban agglomeration council is a central municipal 
legislative body, separate from city council under Section 14 of Charter of Ville de Montréal. It is made up of representatives of 
each related municipality, with the number of representatives of each municipality being determined proportionately to the relative 
size of their populations. 

 

 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards 
(“CPSAS”). They contain certain financial information for tax purposes presented in Note 14. 

The term “City” as used in the segment disclosures, accompanying notes and tables, refers to the entity made up of the Ville de 
Montréal and the organizations under its control. The term “municipal administration” refers to the Ville de Montréal excluding 
the organizations under its control. 

The significant accounting policies are as follows: 

A) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the municipal administration and of the organizations under its 
control. These organizations include the Société de transport de Montréal (“STM”), the Société d’habitation et de développement 
de Montréal, the Société du parc Jean-Drapeau, the Conseil des arts de Montréal, the Office de consultation publique de 
Montréal, Anjou 80, the Agence de mobilité durable, the Bureau du taxi de Montréal and BIXI Montréal. Transactions concluded 
between these organizations and reciprocal balances are eliminated. 

In 2021, the Société en commandite Stationnement de Montréal is no longer part of the City’s reporting entity. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

B) Use of estimates 

Preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with CPSAS requires management to make assumptions 
and estimates that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenditures, assets, liabilities, contractual rights and obligations 
as well as contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and assumptions used by the City to account for or report certain consolidated financial statement items require 
judgment and are based on the most reliable information available and on best estimate assumptions made during the 
preparation of the financial report. 

a) Estimates 

The main estimates made relate to the following items: the allowance for doubtful accounts on accounts receivable, the 
allowance for unbilled transfer fees, the net realizable values of assets held for sale, the loan valuation allowance and 
discount, the estimated useful lives of capital assets, provisions for liabilities for solid waste landfill closure and post-closure 
costs, the environmental liability, contested valuations and legal claims, actuarial assumptions used for establishing the 
employee future benefits liability and expenditures and used for establishing the fair values of investments, of receivables 
assigned to long-term debt repayment, and of long-term debt. 

b) Measurement uncertainty 

Measurement uncertainty exists when there is a difference between the amount recognized or reported in the consolidated 
financial statements and another reasonably possible amount. It is possible that, following the annual estimate and 
assumption review process, amounts change and actual results differ from these estimates. 

There is significant measurement uncertainty, in the short-term, related to the assumptions used to establish the provision 
for contingent liabilities, the environmental liability, and the employee future benefits liability. Additional information about 
the nature and circumstances giving rise to such uncertainty is provided in the relevant notes to the financial statements. 

C) Financial assets 

Financial assets are assets that can be used to repay existing long-term debts or to finance future operations. They are not 
intended for consumption in the normal course of business. 

a) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and highly liquid investments that expire within three months of the acquisition 
date. 

b) Investments 

Temporary investments are recorded at the lower of cost and fair value. 

Other investments are recorded at cost and written down when there is a permanent decline in value, which is reflected in 
the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Discounts or premiums on investments are amortized on a straight-line basis 
until maturity. Amounts included in the sinking fund are restricted to the repayment of long-term loans that do not require 
annual repayment. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

C) Financial assets (continued) 

c) Assets held for sale 

Assets held for sale are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The portion of these assets held for selling 
purposes for the subsequent year is presented in financial assets. 

d) Loans receivable 

Loans are presented at the lower of cost and net recoverable value. Loans with significant concessionary terms are 
presented at face value discounted by the amount of the grant portion. This is recognized as a contribution in the 
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year in which the loan is granted. The discount is amortized over the term of 
the loan using the effective rate interest method. When events result in the expectation of a loss, an impairment on loans 
is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. This allowance may be reduced if the recovery of the loan is 
subsequently considered probable. 

D) Liabilities 

a) Liabilities for solid waste landfill closure and post-closure costs 

The City records a liability for closure and post-closure costs of solid waste landfills that it has operated. The liability 
provision is an estimate of the discounted costs required to provide final cover for closed landfills and to monitor and 
maintain the biogas and leachate collection and treatment systems until 2062. These costs are presented net of user fees 
from biogas processing. 

The assumptions used to calculate these costs are periodically reviewed to account for advancements made in solid waste 
landfill management practices. 

b) Environmental liability 

The City records an environmental liability for remediation of contaminated sites when the following criteria are satisfied: 
an environmental standard exists; the contamination exceeds this standard; the City is directly responsible or accepts 
responsibility; it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and a reasonable estimate of the amounts based 
on the discounted cash flows. 

Significant measurement uncertainty 

The environmental liability is subject to measurement uncertainty given that different methodologies (qualitative or 
quantitative estimates) are used to estimate rehabilitation and management costs, which can vary considerably given the 
ever-changing technologies used in rehabilitation work and given the fact that all of the sites have not undergone a 
comprehensive assessment of the scope and nature of the rehabilitation required. Changes made to assumptions, notably 
the duration of sanitation activity follow ups, and regulations could cause significant changes in the liabilities recorded. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

D) Liabilities (continued) 

c) Provision for contested valuations 

The provision for contested valuations is an estimate of refunds, including principal and interest, that may result from court 
decisions on contested real estate valuations or rental values and on contested classifications under the Act respecting 
Municipal Taxation. 

d) Deferred revenues 

Premiums on the issuance of securities are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the related loans. The 
amounts collected for the acquisition and development of parks and playing fields and for the Social housing development 
fund are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations upon the acquisition of properties for these purposes or 
when the related work is carried out. 

e) Employee future benefits liability 

Defined benefit plans 

Plan liability reflect the year-end difference existing between the value of the accrued benefit obligations and the value of 
plan assets, net of unamortized actuarial gains and losses and the valuation allowance. The actuarial valuation of these 
assets or liabilities is determined using the projected benefit method prorated on years of service with salary projection. It 
is also based on actuarial assumptions that include management’s best estimated on, among other things, discount rates, 
the expected rate of return on plan assets, and the rate of compensation increase and healthcare costs. 

Plan assets are valued using a market-related value, determined over a period not exceeding four years. 

Past service costs related to plan amendments are recognized in the year during which the amendments are made. 

Actuarial gains and losses resulting from the difference between the actual and the expected rate of return on plan assets 
or resulting from changes in actuarial assumptions and actual experience of the plans are deferred and amortized over the 
average remaining service life of active employees. As at December 31, 2021, this weighted average remaining service 
life is 12 years. 

The expenditure for these plans is determined on an accrual basis to attribute the benefit cost to the periods in which the 
related services are rendered by participating employees. Past service costs, amortization of actuarial gains and losses, 
interest expenditure resulting from the difference between the interest cost or income on the obligation and the expected 
rate of return on plan assets, and the change in valuation allowance are the other components of the defined benefit plan 
expenditure. 

Significant measurement uncertainty 

Obligations under pension plans and other employee future benefits can vary significantly given differences between the 
economic and demographic assumptions used in actuarial valuations and the actual results. 

Defined contribution plans and pension plans for elected officials 

The pension expenditure for these plans is recognized when contributions are due. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

E) Non-financial assets 

The City records capital assets and certain assets as non-financial assets since they can usually be used to provide services 

in subsequent years. These assets do not provide resources assigned to the settlement of its liabilities unless they are sold. 

a) Capital assets 

Capital assets are recorded at cost and amortized on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives: 

  

Infrastructures 5 to 135 years

Metro system - infrastructures 20 to 40 years

Metro system - tunnels 100 years

Metro cars 40 and 60 years

Buildings 20 to 60 years

Leasehold improvements lease term

Vehicles 5 to 25 years

Office furniture and equipement 5 to 10 years

Machinery, tools and equipment 5 to 25 years

Other 20 to 25 years
  

Capital assets in the process of completion are only amortized when they can be used in the production of goods or in the 

provision of services.  

Land used as road foundations, otherwise acquired by a purchase contract, is recorded at a nominal value of $1. Other 

land is recorded at cost. 

When a capital asset no longer has any long-term service potential, the excess of its net carrying amount over any residual 

value is expensed to the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period in which impairment is determined. No write-

down is subsequently reversed. 

b) Intangibles 

All of the intangibles held by the City are not recognized as assets in the financial statements. 

c)   Inventories 

Inventories are recorded at lower of cost, which is determined using the average cost method, and replacement value.  

Obsolete inventory is written off. 

d)  Other non-financial assets 

Securities issuance costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the related borrowings. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

F) Revenues 

a) Tax and payments in lieu of taxes 

Except for revenues from the tax on registered vehicles, tax revenues and compensations in lieu of taxes are recognized 

in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the year in which they are due. Revenues from the tax on registered vehicles 

are recognized over a 12-month period from the date they are received. 

b) Quota shares 

The municipal administration’s expenditures relating to agglomeration responsibilities are shared among the related 

municipalities by way of quota shares. These quota shares are reported as revenue in the Consolidated Statement of 

Operations for the year in which they are due. 

c) Transfer 

Transfer revenues are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the year during which they were 

authorized by the transferor and in which any eligibility criteria are met, if any, unless the transfer stipulations give rise to 

an obligation that meets the definition of a liability. In such cases, the transfer is recorded under Deferred revenues and is 

amortized as the stipulations are respected. 

Given the transferring governments’ payment history, the City considers that transfer revenues are authorized by the 

transferring government when the underlying agreements are signed. 

d) Services rendered 

Under the Act to modify mainly the organization and governance of shared transportation in the Montréal metropolitan area 

(CQLR, chapter O-7.3), the Autorité régionale de transport métropolitain (“ARTM”) is mandated to finance the public transit 

service. Services rendered include revenue provided by the ARTM corresponding to the expected compensation in respect 

of the provision of public transit services on the STM’s territory. These revenues are recognized in the Consolidated 

Statement of Operations based on the amounts agreed upon by the two organizations according to an annually established 

budget. 

Revenues from other services are recognized when the services are rendered, give rise to a claim and collection is 

reasonably assured. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

F) Revenues (continued) 

e) Fee collection, fines and penalties, interest and other revenues 

Revenues from fee collection, fines and penalties, interest and other revenues are recognized in the Consolidated 
Statement of Operations in the period in which the transactions or events occurred that gave rise to the revenues, amounts 
can be reasonably estimated, and collection is reasonably assured. Interest income is recognized when earned. 

Revenues from fee collection include property transfer fees, which are recognized on the date on which the transfer was 
recorded by the rights registrar. Any fines and penalties pertaining to the year in question are recognized when infractions 
are issued. 

G) Other elements 

a) Sectorization and presentation of operations 

The City’s financial position, operations, surpluses (deficits) of operating and investing activities in capital assets and in 
loans for the year for tax purposes, and by-item expenditures are broken down between the following sectors: municipal 
administration and controlled organizations. 

Expenditures are broken down as follows: 

- the “General administration” item refers to all municipal administration and management activity. Expenditures relate 
primarily to council activities, applications of the law, and financial, administrative and staff management; 

- the “Public security” item refers to all activities involving the protection of people and property. It includes all expenditures 
related to control, prevention and emergency measures regarding emergency preparedness; 

- the “Transportation” item refers to all activities related to planning, organizing and maintaining road systems and to the 
transportation of people and goods; 

- the “Environmental hygiene” item refers to all expenditures related to water, sewers, residual materials removal, and 
environmental protection; 

- the “Health and welfare” item refers to all community health and welfare services including social housing and income 
security; 

- the “Urban planning and development” item refers to the development and maintenance of the urban development plan 
or city plan as well as all expenditures related to developing the City’s economic development programs; 

- the “Recreation and culture” item refers to all the planning, organizing, and managing of recreational and cultural 
programs; 

- the “Financing expenses” item refers to the interest and other charges involved in financing. 

b) Contributions to organizations 

Contributions to organizations are recognized as expenditures in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period 
in which the transfer payment is authorized and all eligibility criteria are met by the recipient, as necessary. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

G) Other elements (continued) 

c) Derivative financial instruments 

The City uses derivative financial instruments to reduce its currency and interest rate risk exposure on long-term debt and 
applies hedge accounting in its eligible hedging relationships in order to benefit from hedge accounting. When implemented, 
the foreign exchange hedging relationships must be fully documented as required under standard PS 2600, Foreign 
Currency Translation, and the City must secure efficient relationships for managing the attendant risks. Then the current 
hedging relationships are evaluated on an annual basis to ensure that they continue to be efficient, and it is expected that 
they will remain efficient. The efficiency of a hedging relationship is generally evaluated by analyzing whether the main 
terms of the swap match those of the debt covered. The City does not use financial instruments for trading nor speculative 
purposes. 

The City uses cross-currency swaps to manage the risk associated with loans denominated in foreign currencies. The 
value of currency swaps is determined by applying the change between the foreign exchange rates stipulated in the swap 
contracts and exchange rates in effect on the reporting date of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position to the 
notional amounts of the swaps. Those that constitute financial assets are deducted from long-term debt, and those that 
constitute financial liabilities are added to long-term debt. Gains and losses on these derivatives are recognized in the 
same period as the exchange gains and losses related to the corresponding debt and are charged against the latter. 

Furthermore, the City uses interest rate swaps to manage interest rate risk related to its debt. These contracts result in 
interest exchanges that are recorded as an adjustment to financing expenses for the year. The amounts payable to 
counterparties or receivable from counterparties are recorded as an adjustment to the accrued interest on the 
corresponding debt; otherwise, the value of the interest rate swap contracts is not recorded in the Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Position. 

d) Foreign currency translation 

Revenues and expenditures related to foreign currency transactions are translated into Canadian dollars using the 
exchange rates in effect on the transaction date. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rate in effect on the 
reporting date of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, and foreign exchange gains or losses are immediately 
recognized on to the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

e) Contingent assets 

Contingent assets are possible assets that arise from uncertain situations. The existence of these assets is disclosed in 
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements if it is probable that the future event resolving the uncertainty will occur.  
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

G) Other elements (continued)

f) Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities, including loan guarantees, are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position when 
a future event is likely to confirm the existence of a liability at the financial consolidated statements’ date and the amount 
of loss can be reasonably estimated.

Significant measurement uncertainty

Contingent liabilities may vary given the assumptions used to determine the probability of an outcome of an existing 
situation at the reporting date and the assumptions used to estimate the value of the contingent liability. Assumptions used 
include past experience, ongoing negotiations, recent settlements, and rulings issued by courts.

It is possible that such provision changes considerably in the coming year. Because disclosure of information could lead to 
negative repercussions on the outcome of these proceedings and litigation, amount-related information is not presented in 
a detailed fashion and the scope of the related uncertainty is not provided.

g) Urban agglomeration responsibilities

Under An Act respecting the exercise of certain municipal powers in certain urban agglomerations (CQLR, chapter 
E-20.001), the municipal administration, in addition to its local powers, exercises agglomeration powers over the 
entire territory of related municipalities. The main agglomeration powers cover the following areas: property assessments; 
public transit; certain functions related to the thoroughfares forming the arterial road system; water supply and water 
purification; disposal and reclamation of residual materials; municipal watercourses; police, emergency preparedness, 
fire protection and first responder services (except for the territory of the municipality of Côte-Saint-Luc); the municipal 
court; social housing and assistance to the homeless; and certain components of economic development. Tables 1 and 
2 provide a breakdown of the consolidated surplus (deficit) of operating activities and investing activities in capital assets 
and in loans for tax purposes according to both local and agglomeration responsibilities.

h) Budget data information

The Consolidated Statement of Operations and the Consolidated Statement of the Change in Net Debt include a 
comparison of actual and consolidated budget data.

Budget data on the Consolidated Statement of Operations includes budgets of the municipal administration adopted by city 
council and by the urban agglomeration council in December 2020 as well as the budgets adopted by the principal 
organizations under the City’s control. It also reflects adjustments made to budget data of the municipal administration, to 
comply with CPSAS and the elimination of reciprocal transactions. Table 5 presents the reconciliation of operating budgets 
that have been tabled and the budget included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Budget data pertaining to the acquisition of capital assets in the Consolidated Statement of the Change in Net Debt results 
from the combination of capital asset budget of the municipal administration adopted by city council and by the urban 
agglomeration council in December 2020 in addition to the capital asset budgets adopted by the principal organizations 
under the City’s control.

A comparison of actual and budget data is also presented in the schedules and tables for tax purposes. 
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3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
(in thousands of dollars) 

2021 2020

Cash 1,441,254               1,432,682               
Restricted cash
   Sinking Fund 1,000                      97,840                    
   Other 4,702                      5,875                      
Cash equivalents 14,987                    11,082                    

1,461,943               1,547,479               

 

Cash equivalents essentially include notes, bankers’ acceptances and deposit certificates. They bear interest at rates varying 
between 0.20% and 0.77% (between 0.22% and 1.48% in 2020). 

 

 
4. INVESTMENTS 

(in thousands of dollars) 

2021 2020
 Sinking

Fund Other Total Total

Term deposits and other securities 80,321                  5,209                      85,530                    6,309                      
Bonds and debentures 2,930,994              52,522                    2,983,516               2,762,611               

3,011,315              57,731                    3,069,046               2,768,920               

 

As at December 31, 2021, the fair value of investments was $3,140.3 million (2,976.5 million in 2020). 

As at December 31, 2020, the Sinking Fund and other investments totalled $2,735.0 million and $33.9 million, respectively. 

Bonds and debentures held by the City essentially comprise securities issued by governments and their bodies and by 
municipalities and school boards. In particular, they include bonds and debentures issued by the Ville de Montréal and the STM 
totalling $472.4 million ($478.8 million in 2020). 

 

  



 
 
Notes and Tables to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
December 31, 2021 
 
 

 
  Ville de Montréal   25  

 
 

4. INVESTMENTS (continued) 
(in thousands of dollars) 

The maturities of investments held by the City are as follows: 

Term deposits Bonds and Weighted nominal
and other securities debentures Total interest rate

December 31, 2021
2022 85,530                      174,622               260,152            1.71%
2023 -                              165,705               165,705            3.28%
2024 -                              443,813               443,813            3.06%
2025 -                              174,643               174,643            2.92%
2026 -                              195,656               195,656            3.92%

1 to 5 years 85,530                      1,154,439             1,239,969         2.92%
6 to 10 years -                              905,223               905,223            2.55%

11 to 15 years -                              512,130               512,130            3.17%
16 to 20 years -                              348,755               348,755            3.38%

More than 20 years -                              62,969                 62,969              4.87%

85,530                      2,983,516             3,069,046         2.95%

December 31, 2020
2021 6,309                       199,437               205,746            3.86%
2022 -                              134,174               134,174            2.87%
2023 -                              186,355               186,355            3.27%
2024 -                              435,226               435,226            3.05%
2025 -                              190,729               190,729            2.84%

1 to 5 years 6,309                       1,145,921             1,152,230         3.18%
6 to 10 years -                              826,594               826,594            2.99%

11 to 15 years -                              402,699               402,699            3.31%
16 to 20 years -                              336,295               336,295            3.42%

More than 20 years -                              51,102                 51,102              4.63%

6,309                       2,762,611             2,768,920         3.20%
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5. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
(in thousands of dollars) 

2021 2020

Taxes 122,727            157,623                  
Government of Canada and its enterprises 320,072            193,843                  
Government of Québec and its enterprises 1 4,597,172         4,297,794                
Municipal organizations 70,878              114,887                  
Services rendered and other 608,851            469,039                  

5,719,700         5,233,186                
 

1 Includes receivables restricted to repayment of long-term debt of $3,147.5 million ($3,054.9 million in 2020) with fair value established at 
$3,202.7 million ($3,279.5 million in 2020). 

An allowance for doubtful accounts of $149.0 million ($153.9 million in 2020) has been deducted from accounts receivable. An 
allowance for unbilled transfer fees of $131.8 million ($92.0 million in 2020) has been included in accounts receivable. 

Accounts receivable restricted to the repayment of long-term debt, for which repayment terms were determined as at 
December 31, 2021, are as follows: 

Weighted nominal
Receipts interest rate Refinancing

December 31, 2021  
2022 323,392                      2.91 % 2,304               

2023 286,174                      2.88 % 51,142              

2024 217,889                      2.88 % 88,197              

2025 166,391                      2.54 % 88,934              

2026 153,198                      2.50 % 93,024              

1 to 5 years 1,147,044                   2.79 % 323,601            

6 to 10 years 544,509                      2.40 % 481,527            

11 to 15 years 287,496                      2.45 % 186,222            

16 to 20 years 176,065                      2.21 % 1,001               
 2,155,114                   2.60 % 992,351            

December 31, 2020     
2021 318,611                      3.07 % 18,593              

2022 285,286                      3.03 % 10,400              

2023 248,400                      2.99 % 59,237              

2024 180,115                      3.04 % 96,293              

2025 128,616                      2.66 % 97,029              

1 to 5 years 1,161,028                   2.99 % 281,552            

6 to 10 years 419,544                      2.52 % 516,871            

11 to 15 years 244,053                      2.51 % 279,786            

16 to 20 years 141,653                      2.17 % 10,451              
1,966,278                   2.77 % 1,088,660         
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6. LOANS RECEIVABLE 

(in thousands of dollars) 

2021 2020

Loans to PME-MTL

     PAUPME 61,043              37,914              

     PME 42,065              44,547              

     Others 3,640               2,765               

Loans to a municipal housing corporation 3,757               4,518               

Loans to non-profit organizations 5,571               4,048               

Balances of sales prices 975                  1,947               

117,051            95,739              

 

As part of the emergency assistance to small and medium-sized businesses program, named Programme d’aide aux petites et 

moyennes entreprises (PAUPME) created by the Ministère de l’Économie et de l’Innovation (MEI), the City granted non-interest-

bearing loans to PME-MTL that are to be used exclusively to grant loans to eligible small- and medium-sized businesses in the 

Montréal region that have been affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. These loans are repayable in the year following the maturity 

of the loans granted to the small- and medium-sized businesses, in an amount equal to the full amount of the loan repaid by 

those businesses. These amounts are to be used for the repayment of long-term debt.  

Amounts granted to the businesses under the Assistance for Businesses on Maximum Alert (AERAM) component or granted 

under the Assistance for Some Businesses in the Tourism Sector (ACEST) component may be eligible for loan forgiveness. 

Where applicable, amounts that cannot be recovered will not be subject to repayment to the City. Amounts not loaned by PME-

MTL under the PAUPME program must be remitted to the City on August 15th, 2022. As at Decembre 31, these amounts 

represented $27 million. An amount of $84.5 million ($29.2 million in 2020) was deducted from the value of these loans in order 

to present them at net recoverable value 

The PME loans and other loans granted to PME-MTL, maturing in 2025, do not bear interest. An amount of $2.9 million 

($0.5 million in 2020) was deducted from the value of PME loans, and an amount of $0.3 million (nil in 2020) was deducted from 

the value of the other loans in order to present them at their discounted nominal value.  

Loans to a municipal housing corporation, which mature from 2022 to 2033, do not bear interest. An amount of $1.4 million 

($1.6 million in 2020) was deducted from the value of these loans to present them at their discounted nominal value. 

Loans to non-profit organizations, which mature from 2033 to 2034, do not bear interest. An amount of $3.0 million ($4.5 million 

in 2020) was deducted from the value of these loans to present them at their discounted nominal value. 

For the last four loan categories, no valuation allowance was recognized (none in 2020). 
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7. TEMPORARY LOANS
(in thousands of dollars)

2021 2020
Authorized Used Authorized Used

Demand lines of credit 312,000 - 312,000 - 
Securities 1 2,155,124           799,672            1,845,900 699,696 

2,467,124           799,672            2,157,900 699,696 

1 The $2,155.1 million ($1,845.9 million in 2020) total amount of authorized securities comprises the STM’s authorized limit of $1,000.0 million 
($750.0 million in 2020) and $1,155.1 million under the Charter of Ville de Montréal, which authorizes up to 20% of the budgetary 
appropriations for the issuance of temporary securities ($1,095.9 million in 2020). The City may borrow, in whole or in part, through notes, 
bankers’ acceptances, commercial paper or other securities that may be negotiated with chartered banks or on the open market for short-
term borrowings. 

As at December 31, 2021, the short-term securities issued consist of $99.9 million ($99.9 million in 2020) of notes issued at a 
discount rate of 0.25% (0.21% in 2020) and of $699.8 million ($599.8 million in 2020) in commercial paper at an average rate 
of 0.27% (0.26% in 2020). All of the issued securities mature in the coming year, and the weighted average rate is 0.27% 
(0.25% in 2020). 
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8. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, PROVISIONS AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
(in thousands of dollars)

2021 2020

Trade accounts payable 1,062,372         1,014,391         
Remuneration and benefits costs 676,633            656,801            
Deposits and holdbacks 266,345            265,907            
Accrued interest payable on long-term debt 98,336 95,361 
Provisions
   Solid waste landfill closure and post-closure costs 1 77,087 80,295 
   Environmental liability 2 64,116 68,408 
   Contested valuations 51,036 49,470 
   Other 104,982            91,379 
Government of Québec and its enterprises 3 56,536 52,620 
Other 4 111,498            126,039            

2,568,941         2,500,671         

1 The City records a liability for solid waste landfill closure and post-closure cost. Estimated total undiscounted expenditures amounted to 
$125.8 million ($134.9 million in 2020) and the discount rate used was 3.0% (3.2% in 2020). 

2 The City records an environmental liability in respect of the clean-up of contaminated sites. Based on information currently known, this liability 
comprises costs directly attributable to remediation activities. These costs include those associated with operating activities as well those 
related to the construction of infrastructure used solely for cleaning up the sites. Once the period for the remediation work can be determined 
the City discounts the costs. As at December 31, 2021, the liability associated with the sites whose clean-up costs have been discounted 
amounted to $39.5 million ($44.8 million in 2020); estimated total undiscounted expenditures, which are expected to be realized until 2045, 
amount to $56.4 million ($63.2 million in 2020); and the discount rate used was 3.0% (3.2% in 2020). The liability related to sites for which the 
period of work cannot be determined was $16.0 million ($23.6 million in 2020).  

3 In 2017, the Government of Québec and the Société nationale du cheval de course (national racehorse society) sold to the City certain lots 
in a location known as the Hippodrome de Montréal. This sale was concluded without immediate monetary consideration but in exchange for 
the selling price of the land being shared between the City and the Government. As at December 31, 2021, the amount payable to the 
Government of Québec recorded in the City’s books totals is estimated at $40.4 million ($38.8 million in 2020). 

4 Other payables consist of the following items: fines and penalties of $36.8 million ($46.3 million in 2020), overearnings of $25.2 million 
($19.6 million in 2020), grants payable of $21.0 million ($21.0 million in 2020) and other payables of $28.5 million ($39.1 million in 2020). 
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9. DEFERRED REVENUES 
(in thousands of dollars) 

2021 2020

Transfers 442,376             463,005                 

Premium upon issuance of securities 112,701             123,075                 

Acquisition and development of parks and playing fields 106,024             78,706                   

Automobile registration taxes 16,564               16,503                   

Social housing development fund 29,707               25,005                   

Other 22,161               23,950                   

 729,533             730,244                 

 

Deferred transfer revenue by program is allocated as follows :  

2021 2020

AccèsLogis Québec of Société d’habitation du Québec 154,884               117,036               
Rehabilitation of contaminated land in Montréal-East by the Ministère
    de l’Économie et de l’innovation 97,623                100,002               
Rehabilitation of contaminated land located in the City of Montréal by the
    Ministère de l’Environnement et de la Lutte contre les changements climatiques 76,005                78,451                 
Gaz tax program and the Québec government contribution
    for infrastructure 36,996                84,692                 
Rapid housinginitiative (RHI) financed by the
    Société Canadienne d'hypothèques et de logement 22,263                -                          

Other 54,605                82,824                 

442,376               463,005               
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10. LONG-TERM DEBT
(in thousands of dollars)

2021 2020

Bonds and bank loans 1 14,493,123         13,693,311 
Term loans and mortgages 2 163,409 170,273 
Loan - Government of Québec - MEI 3 145,500 58,200 

Other long-term debt 16,605 20,066 

14,818,637         13,941,850 

1 Includes the long-term debt related to repaying the net pension plan obligation totalling $1,294.9 million ($1,294.9 million in 2020). 

2  Mortgages in the amount of $0.9 million ($2.5 million in 2020) are guaranteed by properties with a carrying value of $22.0 million ($19.4 million 
in 2020). 

3 The loan granted by the MEI, non-interest-bearing and maturing on March 31, 2030, must be used exclusively for the granting of PAUPME 
loans, through PME-MTL, to eligible small- and medium-sized businesses in the Montréal region affected by COVID-19 pandemic. Amounts 
granted to these businesses under the AERAM and ACEST components are eligible for loan forgiveness. Where applicable, they will not 
be subject to government reimbursement. In addition, the MEI could ultimately write off a portion of the loan equal to the amounts not 
recovered from the assisted businesses. 
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10. LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)
(in thousands of dollars)

The repayment of the long-term debt is allocated as follows: 

2021 2020

Chargeable to taxpayers
Of the central municipality 4,953,130 4,796,663 
Of the agglomeration 1 3,223,087 2,833,773 

Sinking Fund 3,012,315 2,832,859 
Receivables restricted to repayment of long-term debt 3,147,465 3,054,938 
Amount recoverable through user fees 421,597 385,703 
Loans to PME-MTL - PAUPME 61,043 37,914 

14,818,637           13,941,850 

1 This balance includes an amount of $84.5 million ($20.3 million in 2020) that represents allowances for forgiveness and doubtful accounts on 
loans granted to PME-MTL under the PAUPME program. This amount could potentially be written off and would therefore be borne by the 
government. 

The City uses currency and interest-rate swap agreements for loans totalling $268.1 million ($273.4 million in 2020). The financial 
liabilities associated with these swaps are included in the long-term debt amount. 

Considering the existence of these swaps, all of the loans contracted by the City bear interest at a fixed rate. As at December 31, 
2021, all loans in foreign currencies are hedged. 

Estimated payments on long-term debt are as follows: 

2021 2020

Canadian Net Canadian Net
 dollars Refinancing Amount  dollars Refinancing Amount

2021 1,077,754 294,345      783,409       
2022 907,469 460,912        446,557     861,206 460,912      400,294       
2023 1,544,062 579,812        964,250     1,500,169 579,812      920,357       
2024 1,236,705 203,102        1,033,603  1,246,718 203,102      1,043,616     
2025 688,214 207,402        480,812     644,145 207,402      436,743       
2026 1,119,155 288,318        830,837     - - - 
1 to 5 years 5,495,605 1,739,546     3,756,059  5,329,992 1,745,573    3,584,419     
6 to 10 years 4,508,530 1,471,203     3,037,327  4,519,098 1,452,017    3,067,081     
11 to 15 years 1,934,707 134,255        1,800,452  1,297,651 93,321        1,204,330     
16 to 20 years 1,826,065 261,480        1,564,585  1,741,379 247,054      1,494,325     
2043 934,556 - 934,556 934,556 - 934,556 
2045 119,174 - 119,174 119,174 - 119,174 

TOTAL 14,818,637 3,606,484     11,212,153 13,941,850 3,537,965    10,403,885   
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10. LONG-TERM DEBT (continued) 
(in thousands of dollars) 

Interest rates 

The interest rates shown in the table take into account the nominal interest rate and impact of interest rate swaps. 

2021 2020

Weighted Weighted
Maturity average average

1 to 5 years  3.32% 3.43%
6 to 10 years 2.54% 2.89%
11 to 15 years 3.73% 4.03%
16 to 20 years 3.09% 3.37%
2043 6.00% 6.00%
2045 6.00% 6.00%

3.30% 3.50%
 

Fair value 

The fair value of the debt was $16,036.9 million ($16,091.0 million in 2020). Fair value includes the net financial liabilities 
associated with foreign currency and interest-rate swaps of $28.7 million ($34.3 million in 2020). 
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11. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS LIABILITY
(in thousands of dollars)

2021 2020

Defined benefit pension plans 110,200            106,140            
Other plans 294,366            285,552            

Employee future benefits liability 404,566            391,692            

Expenditures for the defined benefit plans totalled $406.6 million ($333.5 million in 2020). Expenditures for the defined 
contribution plans and the pension plans of elected officials totalled $1.8 million ($1.5 million in 2020) and $2.6 million 
($2.9 million in 2020), respectively. 

Defined benefit plans 

a) Description of plans

The City offers various defined benefit pension plans to most of its employees. Under these plans, benefits paid to employees 
are based on the number of years of service and the average salary for the highest paid years. The City’s contributions are 
determined according to various actuarial methods. 

Other retirement benefits, including life insurance and insurance coverage for medical and dental costs, are also provided to 
certain employees. Certain post-employment benefits are also provided and include, in particular, income replacement benefits, 
supplemental unemployment benefits, maintenance of coverage during periods of temporary absence and certain termination 
allowances. These plans are not funded. 

The most recent actuarial valuation available covers fiscal year 2018 to fiscal year 2021. 

b) Reconciliation of the funded status of the benefit plans with the amounts recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position

Pension Other Pension Other 
plans plans plans plans

Actuarial value of plan assets 22,804,093       - 21,548,792 - 
Accrued benefit obligation (22,857,443)      (314,439)           (21,710,959) (301,944)           
Deficit (53,350)             (314,439)           (162,167)           (301,944)           
Unamortized actuarial (gains) losses (54,268)             20,073 199,342            16,392 

(107,618)           (294,366)           37,175 (285,552)           Accrued (liability) asset benefit  
Valuation allowance (2,582) - (143,315) - 

Employee future benefits liability (110,200)           (294,366)           (106,140)           (285,552)           

2021 2020
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11. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS LIABILITY (continued) 
(in thousands of dollars) 

c) Plans in which the accrued benefit obligation exceeds the plan assets 

Pension Other Pension Other
plans plans plans plans

Accrued benefit obligation (9,249,018)        (314,439)           (9,085,306)        (301,944)           
Actuarial value of plan assets 8,784,824         -                      8,484,237         -                      

Deficit (464,194)           (314,439)           (601,069)           (301,944)           

2021 2020

 
 

d) Actuarial value of plan assets 
 

Pension Other Pension Other
plans plans plans plans

Balance at beginning 21,548,792       -                      20,741,485       -                      

Expected return on plan assets 1,200,744         -                      1,199,705         -                      
Gains during the year on the
   expected return on plan assets 543,192            -                      233,282            -                      
Actual return on plan assets 1,743,936         -                      1,432,987         -                      
Employer contributions 1 384,033            9,711               241,069            9,371               
Employee contributions 276,127            -                      267,495            -                      
Benefits paid (1,148,795)        (9,711)              (1,134,244)        (9,371)              

Balance at end 22,804,093       -                      21,548,792       -                      

 
Fair value of plan assets 2 24,056,452       -                      21,870,484       -                      

2021 2020

 

1 In 2020, a $146.2 million payment, equal to the surplus assets of a plan allocated to the STM, was reduced by the employer’s contributions 
(none in 2021). 
 

2 The fair value of assets includes the bonds issued directly by the City to its pension plans, reported at a cost of $303.7 million ($303.7 million 
in 2020). 
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11. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS LIABILITY (continued)
(in thousands of dollars)

e) Accrued benefit obligation

Pension Other Pension Other 
plans 1 plans plans 1 plans

Balance at beginning 21,710,959       301,944            20,583,458       292,262            
Current service cost 518,541            7,778 481,298            7,560 
Past service cost 156,427            546 170 - 
Contribution to the stabilization fund 60,464 - 57,988 - 
Benefits paid (1,148,795)        (9,711) (1,134,244) (9,371) 
Interest cost on the obligation 1,203,245         9,188 1,186,591 9,137 
Loss on the obligation during the year 356,602            4,694 535,698            2,356 

Balance at end 22,857,443       314,439            21,710,959       301,944            

2021 2020

1 As at December 31, 2021, the accrued benefit obligation of the pension plans includes a constructive obligation of $2,807.5 million 
($2,381.7 million as at December 31, 2020) arising from the adoption, in 2014, of the Act to foster the financial health and sustainability of 
municipal defined benefit pension plans (S.Q.2014, Chapter 15). 

f) Components of the expenditure for defined benefits plans

Pension Other Pension Other
plans plans plans plans

Current service cost 518,541            7,778 481,298            7,560 
Past service cost 156,427            546 170 - 
Contribution to the stabilization fund 60,464 - 57,988 - 
Employee contributions (276,127)           - (267,495) - 
Unamortized actuarial (gains) loss  recognized
   upon plan amendments (4,870) (546) 200 - 
Amortization of actuarial losses 71,891 1,559 51,162              1,020 

Retirement benefits expense 526,326            9,337 323,323            8,580 

Interest cost on the obligation 1,203,245         9,188 1,186,591         9,137 
Expected return on plan assets (1,200,744)        - (1,199,705) - 

Interest cost (income) 2,501 9,188 (13,114)             9,137 

Change in valuation allowance (140,733)           - 5,554 - 

Total expenditure 388,094            18,525 315,763            17,717 

2021 2020
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11. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS LIABILITY (continued) 
(in thousands of dollars) 

g) Principal assumptions 

The principal assumptions used are as follows: 

 

Mortality tables 

For its main pension plans, except for the plan for police officers, the City uses mortality table CPM-2014 combined with the 

CPM-B scale and adjustment factors based on the provisioning reports. For the police officers pension plan, the City uses 

mortality table CPM-2014Publ combined with the CPM-B scale and adjustment factors based on the provisioning reports. 

Defined contribution plans and plans of elected officials 

a) Description of plans 

Some employees are members of defined contribution plans, under which the City’s contribution represents a percentage of 

pay. Elected municipal officials are members of defined benefit pension plans administered by Retraite Québec. The City’s 

contributions are determined by the government. 

b) Employer contributions 

2021 2020

Defined contribution plans 1,790               1,510

Pension plans of elected officials 2,598               2,869
 

  

 

Pension Other Pension Other

plans plans plans plans

Discount rate 5.35% to 5.73% 2.75% to 3.00% 5.35% to 6.20% 3.00% to 3.20%

Rate of expected return on plan assets 5.35% to 6.24% 5.35% to 6.25%

Inflation rate 2.00% 2.10% 2.00% to 2.10% 2.10%

Salary escalation rate 2.10% to 2.75% 2.20% to 2.50% 2.20% to 2.75% 2.20% to 2.50%

Initial growth rate for healthcare costs 3.00% to 6.50% 3.00% to 7.00%

Ultimate growth rate for healthcare costs 3.00% to 4.50% 3.00% to 5.00%

Years when rate is expected to stabilize 2037 and 2040 2028 and 2040

2021 2020
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12. CAPITAL ASSETS 

(in thousands of dollars) 

Balance at the Disposals / Balance at the

beginning of fiscal year Increase Write offs end of fiscal year

COST

Infrastructures 1
14 422 974           1 065 325              214 326                 15 273 973            

Metro system - infrastructures 3 343 239             364 636                 -                           3 707 875              

Metro system - tunnels 328 081               -                           -                           328 081                 

Metro cars 2 290 837             314 389                 37 840                  2 567 386              

Buildings 5 036 686             699 813                 1 461                    5 735 038              

Leasehold improvements 167 665               24 933                  987                       191 611                 

Vehicles 2 105 896             160 140                 20 985                  2 245 051              

Office furniture and equipment 823 241               177 157                 54 156                  946 242                 

Machinery, tools and equipment 558 606               44 785                  149                       603 242                 

Land 1 568 603             125 602                 1 139                    1 693 066              

Other 14 879                 8 904                    -                           23 783                  

30 660 707           2 985 684              331 043                 33 315 348            

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION

Infrastructures 5 509 712             423 255                 214 326                 5 718 641              

Metro system - infrastructures 964 984               113 752                 -                           1 078 736              

Metro system - tunnels 113 858               3 398                    -                           117 256                 

Metro cars 374 291               50 226                  37 105                  387 412                 

Buildings 1 923 159             87 966                  802                       2 010 323              

Leasehold improvements 97 907                 13 286                  928                       110 265                 

Vehicles 1 098 903             116 191                 20 202                  1 194 892              

Office furniture and equipment 366 683               127 143                 54 153                  439 673                 

Machinery, tools and equipment 222 895               28 471                  138                       251 228                 

10 672 392           963 688                 327 654                 11 308 426            

NET CARRYING VALUE 19 988 315           2 021 996              3 389                    22 006 922            

 

1 In 2021, the Ministère des Transports du Québec transferred to the City, without monetary consideration, a main sewer valued 

at $56.0 million. 

 

The cost of the capital assets in the process of completion totalling $2,287.8 million as at December 31, 2021 ($1,959.3 million 

in 2020). There were no write-downs during the year (none in 2020).  
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13. OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 
(in thousands of dollars) 

2021 2020

Deposits to purchase assets
  Land and other assets 23,617                     165,937                       
  Metro cars and buses -                             57,335                         
Securities issuance costs 92,751                     66,851                         
Other 34,773                     11,740                         

151,141                   301,863                       
 

 

 

14. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 
(in thousands of dollars) 

2021 2020

Unrestricted operating surplus 102,432                   72,492                         

Restricted operating surplus 695,656                   701,548                       

Financial reserves and reserved funds 821,873                   476,792                       

Deficit of investing activities in capital assets and in loans (1,162,711)               (995,553)                      

Recognized expenditures to be taxed or funded (1,451,703)               (1,313,527)                    

Net investment in capital assets 14,481,599              13,014,490                   

13,487,146              11,956,242                   
 

In accordance with the model developed by the Ministère des Affaires municipales et de l’Habitation of the Government of 
Québec, the City presents certain financial information prepared for tax purposes in its annual financial report. Besides a 
breakdown of the accumulated surplus in various items defined in the following paragraphs, the financial information is presented 
in Schedules 3 and 4, as well as in Tables 1 to 11. 

Restricted operating surplus 

The restricted operating surplus is the portion of the accumulated surplus whose use is reserved under the Act to reform the 
municipal territorial organization of the metropolitan regions of Montréal, Québec and Outaouais (S.Q. 2000, chapter 56), under 
resolutions adopted by the city council, the urban agglomeration council and the borough councils. It also includes the excess 
of operating activities in organizations under the City’s control. 

Financial reserves and reserved funds 

Financial reserves and reserved funds are the portion of the accumulated surplus for limited purposes under statutory and 
contractual provisions. The reserves and reserved funds are used for the development and maintenance of parking areas, the 
provision of water, road network services and the acquisition of capital assets.  
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14. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (continued) 
(in thousands of dollars) 

Deficit of investing activities in capital assets and in loans 

The deficit of investing activities in capital assets and in loans corresponds to the difference, on one hand, between the 
cumulative cost of capital assets and issuances of loans and, on the other, the total sources of funding. 

Recognized expenditures to be taxed or funded 

Recognized expenditures to be taxed or funded is equal to the net balance of the expenditures recognized in the Consolidated 
Statement of Operations that will be subject to future revenues. Excluding the amount related to loans granted in connection 
with the PAUPME, this net balance is transferred, by allocating it to the unrestricted operating surplus, based on budgeted 
amounts or resolutions adopted by the city council and the urban agglomeration council. The recognized expenditures to be 
taxed or funded results from the following: 

- the application of relief measures related to employee future benefits (allocations over an estimated period through to 2025) 
and post-retirement and other post-employment benefits (allocations based on specific resolutions associated with the value 
of the liability); 

- the application of relief measures to mitigate the impact of the 2008 financial crisis in the defined benefit pension plans 
(allocations over an estimated period until 2022); 

- the application of COVID-19-related relief measures permitted during the period of 2021 to 2026, applicable to defined benefit 
pension plans (allocations over a period through to 2030); 

- the application of relief measures related to the environmental liability (allocations over an estimated period through to 2042); 

- the application allowed during the 2014 to 2017 period of relief measures relating to the change in the treatment of the Québec 
sales tax (QST) refund, (allocations over a maximum 10-year period); 

- the long-term financing of certain operating expenditures, essentially related to the 2003 and 2005 refinancing of notarized 
deeds relating to certain pension plans (allocations over an estimated period through to 2045); 

- the application of the guideline regarding the accounting and tax treatment of loans granted under the PAUPME. This 
recognized expense item to be taxed or provided for has not been appropriated. It is credited when the loans are issued and 
debited when the loans are repaid or forgiven, and a valuation allowance is recognized. 

Net investment in capital assets 

The net investment in capital assets is equal to the net carrying value of capital assets, minus the debt portion related to these 
assets, plus Sinking Fund investments and receivables restricted to repayment of long-term debt. 
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15. TRANSFER REVENUES 
(in thousands of dollars) 

2021 2020
Transfers - Operating activities

Government of Canada 48,074                -                               
Government of Québec 475,828              856,829                    
Communauté métropolitaine de Montréal 38,774                43,276                      

562,676              900,105                    

Transfers - Investing activities in capital assets and in loans
Government of Canada

Gas tax program and the Québec government contribution 227,606              -                               
Canada transfer progams - Québec 16,964                11,800                      
Others 699                     37                            

Government of Québec
Government public transit assistance program 425,141              191,657                    
Gas tax program and the Québec government contribution 370,577              223,714                    
Government assistance program for public transit infrastructure (PAGITC) 274,452              182,512                    
Public transit infrastructure assistance program 24,451                116,548                    
Canada transfer progams - Québec 18,748                14,879                      
Québec transfer programs - Municipality 22,221                25,053                      
Other 1 56,278                6,333                        

Others
Communauté métropolitaine de Montréal 375                     5,550                        
Others 7,328                  4,470                        -                         -                               

1,444,840            782,553                    

2,007,516            1,682,658                  
 

1 In 2021, includes a transfer of a $56.0 million capital asset from the Ministère des Transports du Québec (none in 2020). 
 

 

16. INTEREST INCOME 
(in thousands of dollars) 

2021 2020

Sinking Fund investments 81,390  92,072 
Cash, cash equivalents and other 14,302  23,981 

95,692  116,053 
Tax arrears 14,814  17,484 

110,506  133,537 
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Use of derivative instruments 

The City uses derivative financial instruments to reduce its exposure to changes in cash flows associated with changes in foreign 
exchange rates and interest rates of its long-term debt. It does not use derivative financial instruments for trading nor speculative 
purposes. 

The City holds swaps with financial institutions, for which the maturity dates fall between December 2022 and December 2024, 
in order to partially protect against changes in fuel prices. 

Exchange and interest positions 

As at December 31, 2021, considering the use of currency and interest-rate swaps, all of the City’s loans are denominated in 
Canadian dollars and bear interest at a fixed rate. 

Credit risk 

In using derivative financial instruments, the City is exposed to credit losses arising from third-party defaults on payment. The 
City believes these parties will be able to meet their obligations. 

Fair value 

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable other than those used to repay long-term debt, temporary 
loans, and accounts payable, provisions and accrued liabilities approximate their carrying values due to the short maturities of 
these financial instruments. 

The following table shows the fair values and carrying values of other financial instruments: 

(in thousands of  dollars)

Fair value Carrying value Fair value Carrying value

Investments 3,140,289         3,069,046              2,976,527         2,768,920               
Receivables restricted of repayment of
      long-term debt 3,202,743         3,147,465              3,279,496         3,054,938               
Long-term debt 16,036,886       14,818,637            16,090,970       13,941,850             

2021 2020

 

The fair value of investments is the amount at which they could be exchanged on the market between parties at arm’s length. 
The fair value of the receivables amount to be used to repay long-term debt and the long-term debt is essentially based on a 
discounted cash flows calculation that uses rates of return or the year-end market price of similar instruments with the same 
maturity. The fair value of swaps is the amount the City would receive or pay if these contracts closed at that date. As at 
December 31, 2021, the fair value of financial liabilities associated with swaps stood at $28.7 million ($34.3 million in 2020). It is 
included in the long-term debt amounts. 
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18. CONTRACTUAL RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS

a) Contractual obligations

The City has contractual obligations relating primarily to property leases, machinery and various equipment rentals, and snow-
removal and garbage collection services. Under these obligations, the City has committed to paying a total amount of 
$2,993.3 million. The estimated amounts payable over the coming years are as follows: 

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027-2067 Total
$823.0M $472.6M $347.3M $281.4M $200.4M $868.6M $2,993.3M

Commitments under investing activities in capital assets and in loans total $2,507.0 million including $58.9 million to purchase 
buses and $5.5 million to purchase metro cars. 

b) Contractual rights

Contractual rights related to operating activities, estimated to total $1,441.2 million, represent future revenue that the City will be 
eligible to receive under existing agreements. They consist of transfer revenues totalling $439.5 million and revenues related to 
services rendered in an amount of $1,001.7 million pertaining to the rental of premises and lending of employees. 

The timing of contractual rights is as follows: 

2022 1 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027-2065 Total
$368.1M $143.3M $182.2M $96.8M $68.5M $582.3M $1,441.2M

1 Includes contractual rights relating to open-ended agreements for an amount of $104.7 million. They pertain to transfer revenues in an 
amount of $104.5 million and revenues for services rendered totalling $0.2 million relating to the lending of employees. 

Contractual rights related to investing activities in capital assets and in loans amount to $965.6 million, including $58.3 million 
for the acquisition of buses and $4.3 million for the purchase of metro cars. 
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19. CONTINGENT ASSETS 

a) Reduction of Government of Québec indebtedness 

Under the PAUPME, the Government of Québec granted a $145.5 million loan to be used exclusively for loans to eligible small 
and medium-sized businesses in Montréal affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. Under the terms of the loan, the amounts 
granted to these businesses in the form of loan forgiveness are not subject to government reimbursement. In addition, the 
government may ultimately write off a portion of the loan equal to the amounts not recovered from the assisted businesses. As 
at December 31, $84.5 million was deducted from the value of the City’s loans under this program. The City considers it probable 
that this $84.5 million will not be repaid. 

b) Lawsuits filed 

To avoid any negative consequences from the outcome of the legal actions it has filed, the City has chosen not to disclose the 
amount that it considers likely to be recovered. 

 

 

20. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

a) Claims and insurance 

Claims pending against the City amount to $3,057.0 million. 

They include a $1,500.0 million class-action suit brought on by RAPLIQ (Regroupement des activistes pour l’inclusion au 
Québec) and authorized by the Superior Court on May 26, 2017. RAPLIQ is an organization whose mission is to promote and 
defend the human rights of those who have a disability. Claims also include a class-action brought by a citizen and authorized 
by the Superior Court on January 26, 2021. This class-action pertains to all natural persons, associations and legal persons who 
have used, since June 15, 2015, parking controlled by a parking meter owned, operated, managed or possessed by the City, 
for whose cost of use is payable at a pay station or via a mobile app, and who have been unable to accumulate their time on a 
subsequent payment or who have been unable to take advantage of the remaining time of a previous user. At this time, the City 
is not in a position to determine the outcome of these class-actions. 

In the opinion of the City’s legal counsel, the resolution of other claims will not materially impact the City’s financial position. 

The Municipal Administration has not contracted any risk insurance. However, it has budgeted, for tax purposes, an amount of 
$37.0 million for the settling of claims and payment of judgments and expenditures not forecasted in the budget. 
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20. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued) 

b) Challenge of the Act to foster the financial health and sustainability of municipal defined benefit pension plans 

Since the Act to foster the financial health and sustainability of municipal defined benefit pension plans (S.Q. 2014, chapter 15) 
was assented on December 5, 2014, motions instituting proceedings seeking to have the Act declared to be unconstitutional 
and of no force or effect have been filed with the Superior Court of Québec by employee associations. 

In a judgment rendered on July 9, 2020, the Superior Court of Québec declared unconstitutional the provisions relating to the 
suspension of the indexation of retired members’ pensions provided for under the Act. However, the Court declared the 
provisions of the same Act pertaining to active members to be constitutional. The government and some municipalities have 
appealed the portion of the ruling that affects retired members. Employee associations have also appealed the portion of the 
judgment affecting active members, with the result that the entire trial judgment is being challenged by one of the parties. As a 
result, enforcement of the judgment is suspended until the Court of Appeal of Québec renders its decision. 

As the outcome of these proceedings is not determinable, the potential impact of these motions and the trial judgment has not 
been accounted for as at December 31, 2021. The extent of the contingent liability cannot be provided as it cannot be measured 
with reasonable reliability. 

c) Environment 

The City, as an owner of contaminated land, may be required to perform certain acts to comply with, in particular, the Act to 
amend the Environment Quality Act and other legislative provisions with regard to land protection and rehabilitation (S.Q. 2002, 
chapter 11). The City may have to characterize and, if necessary, rehabilitate a parcel of land after it has been used or when its 
use changes. 

d) Loan guarantees 

Under the provisions of the Act respecting the Communauté métropolitaine de Montréal (CQLR, chapter C-37.01) (the “CMM”), 
the Act respecting the Autorité régionale de transport métropolitain (CQLR chapter A-33.3) and the Act respecting the réseau 
de transport métropolitain (CQLR chapter R-25.01) (the “RTM”, also known as EXO), local municipalities whose territories are 
included in those of the CMM, the ARTM and RTM are guarantors of the obligations and commitments of these bodies. The 
municipal government's share of their total net long-term debt is shown in Table 4. 

As part of the assistance program for the development of cooperative and non-profit housing (AccèsLogis Montréal), the City 
guarantees loans contracted by non-profit organizations responsible for carrying out projects for a maximum amount of 
$250.0 million. As at December 31, 2021, the amount of loans guaranteed by the City stood at $68.3 million. It is expected that 
a portion of these loans, estimated at $15.2 million, will be repaid from a future contribution from the City. The contingent liability 
related to the guaranteed loans is $53.1 million. No provision for loss has been recorded since none is deemed probable. 
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21. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 

After the close of the fiscal year, a conflict between Russia and Ukraine led to a war between the two countries that started on 
February 24, 2022. The impacts of this conflict on the global economy are very significant and notably include higher energy 
costs, general inflation, and higher interest rates. While it’s impossible to reliably estimate how the duration and severity of the 
war might affect the Montréal economy and the City’s financial position in future fiscal years, the resulting conditions might 
adversely affect the City’s financial results, specifically as a result of an increase in the cost of the fuel used in the City’s everyday 
operations, a general increase in the costs of all contracts, higher interest rates and the impact thereof on the market value of 
pension plan assets and on debt costs. 

 

 

22. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

The City is related to its key management personnel and their close family members and entities in which one or more of these 
persons has the power to determine financial and operating decisions. The City’s key management personnel includes the 
mayor, other Executive Committee members, the City Manager and Assistant City Managers of the municipal administration and 
management personnel in the other entities included in the consolidation group. 

During fiscal year 2021, the City did not enter into any significant transactions with related parties at a different value from that 
which would have been arrived at if the parties were unrelated. 

 

 

23. ORGANIZATION AND GOVERNANCE OF SHARED TRANSPORTATION IN THE MONTREAL METROPOLITAIN AREA 
 

Since June 1, 2017, the STM has been subject to the Act to modify mainly the organization and governance of shared 
transportation in the Montréal metropolitan area (CQLR, chapter O-7.3). 

Under this Act, the ARTM must acquire, from the STM and the City, equipment and infrastructures of metropolitan scope. The 
acquisition contracts must specify the date and terms of transfer of the property. Those assets are expected to be acquired at 
their net carrying value, net of all government assistance received. Conversely, the assets previously designated as being 
metropolitan, which are exclusively for STM users, will be transferred to the STM.  

As at December 31, 2021, certain asset transfers were not yet carried out. The STM is expected to transfer terminals to the 
ARTM, and the ARTM will transfer incentive parking facilities and terminals to the STM. 

 

 

24. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 
 

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. 
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TABLE 1 – CONSOLIDATED OPERATING SURPLUS (DEFICIT) FOR TAX PURPOSES BY RESPONSIBILITY

Budget Actual 1

Revenues
Taxes 3,657,339          3,642,464          
Payments in lieu of taxes 285,333 285,843 
Quota shares - - 
Transfers 229,555 266,860 
Services rendered 429,060 411,874 
Fee collection 277,038 440,118 
Fines and penalties 109,704 79,238 

83,403 76,507 
Other revenues 17,702 29,777 

5,089,134          5,232,681          
Operating expenditures

General administration 902,659 804,817 
Public security 821,404 823,119 
Transportation 1,053,901          1,024,289          
Environmental hygiene 506,699 502,535 
Health and welfare 116,710 110,729 
Urban planning and development 275,462 247,069 
Recreation and culture 599,899 595,547 
Financing expenses 285,168 273,920 

4,561,902          4,382,025          

Surplus before financing and allocations 527,232 850,656 

Financing
Repayment of long-term debt 3 (434,969)            (432,350)            

Allocations (Note 14)
Investing activities in capital assets and in loans (10,000) (16,408) 
Restricted operating surplus 236,810 266,281 
Financial reserves and reserved funds (291,187)            (289,477)            
Recognized expenditures to be taxed or funded (25,885) (3,095) 

(90,262) (42,699) 

Operating surplus (deficit) for tax purposes for the year 2,001 375,607 

Interest

2021

Local responsibilities

1 Transfer revenues and the equivalent operating expenditures presented in the environmental hygiene item exclude an amount of $65.1 million 
(none in 2020) equal to the municipal administration’s share in the cost of the infrastructure work completed under urban agglomeration 
responsibilities eligible for financial assistance under the "Québec gas tax and contribution program (“TECQ”)".  

2 Eliminations refer to transactions carried out between organizations included in the financial reporting entity as well as to interjurisdictional 
transactions. 

3 Repayment of long-term debt includes loan repayments and payments to the Sinking Fund related to loans taken out to finance capital 
expenditures and for which repayment is not covered by third parties. 
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(in thousands of dollars)
2020

Urban agglomeration 

Total
Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Actual

50,090            50,759               (23,405)           (26,437)              3,684,024        3,666,786          3,634,485          
-                     -                       -                     -                       285,333           285,843             279,133             

2,507,711        2,506,481          (2,070,135)       (2,067,728)         437,576           438,753             424,496             
316,538           343,995             (53,158)           (48,179)              492,935           562,676             900,104             

1,582,029        1,524,948          (116,303)          (142,640)            1,894,786        1,794,182          1,762,070          
1,969              161                   -                     -                       279,007           440,279             342,278             

109,561           81,188               -                     -                       219,265           160,426             129,092             
98,529            81,011               (48,520)           (47,012)              133,412           110,506             133,537             
35,577            43,715               -                     -                       53,279            73,492               72,758               

4,702,004        4,632,258          (2,311,521)       (2,331,996)         7,479,617        7,532,943          7,677,953          

341,064           324,407             (336,445)          (335,854)            907,278           793,370             728,691             
1,079,844        1,184,786          (813,553)          (813,914)            1,087,695        1,193,991          1,187,079          
2,055,610        1,996,098          (604,389)          (629,823)            2,505,122        2,390,564          2,399,576          

240,813           234,526             (270,669)          (268,445)            476,843           468,616             470,510             
118,973           123,490             (25,663)           (25,667)              210,020           208,552             184,269             
114,193           117,808             (71,641)           (71,633)              318,014           293,244             236,841             
176,811           169,648             (140,641)          (139,648)            636,069           625,547             598,168             
291,965           266,150             (48,520)           (47,012)              528,613           493,058             489,673             

4,419,273        4,416,913          (2,311,521)       (2,331,996)         6,669,654        6,466,942          6,294,807          

282,731           215,345             -                     -                       809,963           1,066,001          1,383,146          

(242,590)          (232,360)            (12,253)           (12,253)              (689,812)          (676,963)            (651,580)            

(17,000)           (8,912)               -                     -                       (27,000)           (25,320)              (41,276)              
(19,794)           1,704                -                     -                       217,016           267,985             156,564             
(97,212)           (190,481)            -                     -                       (388,399)          (479,958)            (681,585)            
94,147            152,147             12,253            12,253               80,515            161,305             81,229               

(39,859)           (45,542)              12,253            12,253               (117,868)          (75,988)              (485,068)            

282                 (62,557)              -                     -                       2,283              313,050             246,498             

2021

Eliminations 2 Totalresponsibilities
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TABLE 2 –  CONSOLIDATED (DEFICIT) SURPLUS OF INVESTING ACTIVITIES IN CAPITAL ASSETS 
     AND IN LOANS FOR TAX PURPOSES BY RESPONSIBILITY (in thousands of dollars)

2021 2020

Total
Budget Actual Budget Actual 1 Budget Actual Actual

Revenues
Transfers 174,800             290,971        1,310,801     1,153,869     1,485,601  1,444,840     782,554         
Developers contributions -                       5,977            1,900           1,491            1,900        7,468           16,963           
Other revenues -                       12,908          36,309          22,022          36,309       34,930          35,909           

174,800             309,856        1,349,010     1,177,382     1,523,810  1,487,238     835,426         
Capital expenditures

General administration 131,700             75,141          76,100          58,714          207,800     133,855        92,035           
Public security -                       177              39,400          35,320          39,400       35,497          46,864           
Transportation 492,200             367,488        1,509,098     1,469,497     2,001,298  1,836,985     1,630,418      
Environmental hygiene 186,300             161,834        402,700        371,378        589,000     533,212        446,491         
Health and welfare 50,000               11,883          -                  7,652            50,000       19,535          22,060           
Urban planning and development 124,100             83,200          4,600           2,794            128,700     85,994          84,438           
Recreation and culture 420,700             300,744        115,200        39,862          535,900     340,606        287,213         

1,405,000          1,000,467     2,147,098     1,985,217     3,552,098  2,985,684     2,609,519      

Issuance of loans -                       -                   -                  78,386          -               78,386          67,114           

Deficit before financing and allocations (1,230,200)         (690,611)       (798,088)       (886,221)       (2,028,288) (1,576,832)    (1,841,207)     

Financing

903,900             651,449        673,488        577,012        1,577,388  1,228,461     963,166         

Allocations (Note 14)
Operating  activities 10,000               16,408          17,000          8,912            27,000       25,320          41,276           
Restricted operating surplus 14,000               21,123          -                  -                   14,000       21,123          12,696           
Financial reserves and reserved funds 302,300             32,136          107,600        102,634        409,900     134,770        810,822         

326,300             69,667          124,600        111,546        450,900     181,213        864,794         

(Deficit) Surplus of investing activities in capital assets
and in loans for tax purposes for the year -                       30,505          -                  (197,663)       -               (167,158)       (13,247)          

TotalLocal responsibilities
Urban agglomeration 

responsibilities

Long-term financing of investing activities in 
capital assets and in loans

 

1 The revenues include transfers of $65.1 million (none in 2020), authorized during the year, equal to the municipal administration’s share of the 
cost of the infrastructure work completed under urban agglomeration responsibilities eligible for financial assistance under the TECQ. 
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TABLE 3 – CONSOLIDATED ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (in thousands of dollars)
2021 2020

Accumulated surplus
Unrestricted operating surplus 102,432               72,492                    
Restricted operating  surplus 695,656               701,548                  
Financial reserves and reserved funds 821,873               476,792                  
Deficit of investing activities in capital assets and in loans (1,162,711)           (995,553)                 
Recognized expenditures to be taxed or funded (1,451,703)           (1,313,527)               
Net investment in capital assets 14,481,599          13,014,490              

13,487,146          11,956,242              

Breakdown of different items

Restricted operating  surplus
Allocation to the following year -                         190,687                  
Restricted surplus - Boroughs 263,621               236,405                  
Restricted surplus - Specific projects 324,764               186,422                  
Restricted surplus - Other purposes 107,271               88,034                    

695,656               701,548                  

Financial reserves and reserved funds
Financial reserves

Water 19,369                 10,727                    
Road network 15,603                 19,287                    
Capital assets 603,982               264,999                  

638,954               295,013                  
Reserved funds

Capital assets 159,668               158,444                  
Working capital 10,536                 10,526                    
Balance on hand of closed-loan by-laws 6,763                  6,871                      
Parking areas 5,810                  5,738                      
Other 142                     200                         

182,919               181,779                  

821,873               476,792                  

Recognized expenditures to be taxed or funded
Employee future benefits

Pension plans (29,053)                52,859                    
Other plans (185,436)              (188,683)                 

(214,489)              (135,824)                 

Environmental liability (32,000)                (33,600)                   
QST transitional measure (2,340)                 (4,540)                     
Loans to PME-MTL - PAUPME 61,043                 37,914                    
Long-term financing of operating activities (1,263,917)           (1,177,477)               

(1,451,703)           (1,313,527)                
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TABLE 3 – CONSOLIDATED ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (continued) (in thousands of dollars)

2021 2020

Net investment in capital assets
Assets

Investments - Sinking Fund 3,012,315            2,832,859                
Receivables restricted to repayment of long-term debt 3,089,759            2,980,203                
Capital assets 22,006,922          19,988,315              

28,108,996          25,801,377              
Liabilities

Long-term debt (14,818,637)         (13,941,850)             
Debt not affecting the net investment in capital assets 1,191,240            1,154,963                

(13,627,397)         (12,786,887)             
14,481,599          13,014,490              
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TABLE 4 – CONSOLIDATED NET TOTAL LONG-TERM DEBT (in thousands of dollars)
2021 2020

Long-term debt of the municipal administration 11,600,273            10,834,333            

Add
Long-term unfunded operating expenditures  141,865                 115,842                 
Investing activities in capital assets and long-term unfunded loans 523,211                 521,853                 
Long-term unfunded acquisitions of assets held for sale 71,068                   70,211                   

Deduct
Receivables restricted to repayment of long-term debt 1,810,251              1,675,100              
Sinking fund investments 2,668,321              2,476,740              
Loans to PME-MTL - PAUPME 61,043                   37,914                   
Loans to PME-MTL - PAUPME - Amount borne by MEI 84,457                   20,286                   
Amount recoverable through user fees 442,689                 424,288                 

Net long-term debt of the municipal administration 7,269,656              6,907,911              

Quota share in the net total long-term debt of controlled organizations 2,188,232              1,859,446              

Consolidated net long-term debt 9,457,888              8,767,357              

Quota share in the net total long-term debt of other organizations

Réseau de transport métropolitain 168,104                 174,601                 
Autorité régionale de transport métropolitain 38,175                   29,936                   
Communauté métropolitaine de Montréal 13,984                   13,540                   

Consolidated net total long-term debt 9,678,151              8,985,434              
 

Net total long-term debt is equivalent to debt whose repayment is to be provided for by tax revenues or other future self-
generating revenues.  
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TABLE 5 - RECONCILIATION OF BUDGETS TABLED AND CONSOLIDATED BUDGET PRESENTED

       IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS (in thousands of dollars)

2021

Budget tabled

Municipal Controlled Consolidated

administration organizations 1 Adjustments 2 Eliminations 3 budget

Revenues

Taxes 3,707,429               -                            -                         (23,405)               3,684,024           

Payments in lieu of taxes 285,333                  -                            -                         -                         285,333              

Quota shares 437,576                  -                            -                         -                         437,576              

Transfers 411,673                  1,292,821               327,200              (53,158)               1,978,536           

Services rendered 361,188                  1,648,500               -                         (114,902)              1,894,786           

Fee collection 279,007                  -                            -                         -                         279,007              

Fines and penalties 219,265                  -                            -                         -                         219,265              

Interest 171,240                  10,692                   -                         (48,520)               133,412              

Other revenues 17,544                    72,044                   1,900                  -                         91,488               

5,890,255               3,024,057               329,100              (239,985)              9,003,427           

Operating expenditures

General administration 916,756                  -                            8,058                  (9,478)                 915,336              

Public security 1,088,205               -                            16,849                (510)                    1,104,544           

Transportation 1,176,390               1,781,321               299,851              (121,686)              3,135,876           

Environmental hygiene 477,954                  -                            107,652              (1,111)                 584,495              

Health and welfare 176,942                  63,115                   853                    (18,067)               222,843              

Urban planning and development 313,897                  6,513                     20,195                (2,341)                 338,264              

Recreation and culture 627,035                  47,321                   140,670              (38,272)               776,754              

Financing expenses 423,396                  153,737                  -                         (48,520)               528,613              

5,200,575               2,052,007               594,128              (239,985)              7,606,725           

Surplus before financing and allocations 689,680                  972,050                  (265,028)             -                         1,396,702           

Financing

Repayment of long-term debt (575,046)                 -                            575,046              -                         -                                

Allocations (Note 14) 

Restricted operating surplus 215,516                  -                            (215,516)             -                         -                                

Financial reserves and reserved funds (391,838)                 -                            391,838              -                         -                                

Recognized expenditures to be taxed or funded 61,688                    -                            (61,688)               -                         -                                

(114,634)                 -                            114,634              -                         -                        

Consolidated budgeted surplus for the year -                             972,050                  424,652              -                         1,396,702           

 

1 Revenues and expenditures of organizations under the City’s control have been recorded into the same categories used by the municipal 
administration. The amortization expenditure, from capital assets of controlled organizations totalling $342.9 million is allocated as follows: 
transportation, $330.9 million, health and welfare, $12.0 million. 

 
2 The adjustments are related to municipal administration budget data. They are necessary to calculate the year’s budgeted surplus using 

CPSAS. They consist of including revenues related to capital asset activities of $329.1 million as well as the amortization expenditure of capital 
assets in the amount of $594.1 million. Repayment of long-term debt and appropriations are eliminated since they have no impact on the 
surplus established using these same standards. 

 
3 Under the CPSAS, operations between the organizations included in the consolidation group are eliminated. 
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TABLE 6 –  NON-CONSOLIDATED OPERATING SURPLUS (DEFICIT) FOR TAX PURPOSES BY RESPONSIBILITY

Budget Actual 1

Revenues
Taxes 3,657,339         3,642,464         
Payments in lieu of taxes 285,333           285,843           
Quota shares -                      -                      
Transfers 215,205           256,920           
Services rendered 298,826           283,360           
Fee collection 277,038           440,118           
Fines and penalties 109,704           79,238             
Interest 83,027             76,491             

16,525             28,908             

4,942,997         5,093,342         
Operating expenditures

General administration 902,659           804,787           
Public security 821,404           823,119           
Transportation 988,746           973,639           
Environmental hygiene 506,699           502,535           
Health and welfare 65,565             67,756             
Urban planning and development 269,004           241,093           
Recreation and culture 599,899           595,547           
Financing expenses 280,641           268,870           
Net effect of restructuring operations -                      -                      

4,434,617         4,277,346         

Surplus before financing and allocations 508,380           815,996           

Financing
Repayment of long-term debt 3 (428,118)          (425,486)          

Allocations (Note 14) 
Investing activities in capital assets and in loans -                      (4,559)              
Restricted operating surplus 236,810           266,281           
Financial reserves and reserved funds (291,187)          (289,477)          
Recognized expenditures to be taxed or funded (25,885)            (3,095)              

(80,262)            (30,850)            

Operating surplus (deficit) for tax purposes for the year -                      359,660           

2021

Local 

Other revenues

responsibilities

 

1 Transfer revenues and the equivalent operating expenditures presented in the environmental hygiene item exclude an amount of $65.1 million 
(none in 2020) equal to the municipal administration’s share of the cost in the infrastructure work completed under urban agglomeration 
responsibilities eligible for financial assistance under the TECQ. 

2 The eliminations refer to interjurisdictional transactions. 
3 Repayment of long-term debt represents loan repayments and payments to the Sinking Fund related to loans taken out to finance capital 

expenditures and for which repayment is not covered by third parties. 
  



 

 
 Ville de Montréal   59  
 
 

 
 
 

(in thousands of dollars)
2020

Total

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Actual

50,090             50,759             -                      -                      3,707,429         3,693,223         3,661,052         
-                      -                      -                      -                      285,333           285,843           279,133           

2,507,711         2,506,481         (2,070,135)        (2,067,728)        437,576           438,753           424,496           
196,468           236,085           -                      -                      411,673           493,005           825,162           
63,763             57,371             (1,401)              (2,211)              361,188           338,520           281,776           
1,969               161                  -                      -                      279,007           440,279           342,278           

109,561           81,188             -                      -                      219,265           160,426           129,092           
88,213             70,849             -                      -                      171,240           147,340           148,581           
1,019               10,231             -                      -                      17,544             39,139             39,553             

3,018,794         3,013,125         (2,071,536)        (2,069,939)        5,890,255         6,036,528         6,131,123         

341,064           324,407           (326,967)          (326,950)          916,756           802,244           737,868           
1,079,844         1,184,786         (813,043)          (813,409)          1,088,205         1,194,496         1,187,619         

670,347           654,639           (482,703)          (482,967)          1,176,390         1,145,311         1,107,712         
240,813           234,526           (269,558)          (267,346)          477,954           469,715           471,118           
118,973           123,490           (7,596)              (7,595)              176,942           183,651           147,556           
114,193           117,808           (69,300)            (69,306)            313,897           289,595           234,531           
129,505           128,165           (102,369)          (102,366)          627,035           621,346           594,779           
142,755           137,746           -                      -                      423,396           406,616           396,696           

-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      9,596               

2,837,494         2,905,567         (2,071,536)        (2,069,939)        5,200,575         5,112,974         4,887,475         

181,300           107,558           -                      -                      689,680           923,554           1,243,648         

(146,928)          (143,181)          -                      -                      (575,046)          (568,667)          (534,848)          

-                      1,832               -                      -                      -                      (2,727)              (11,436)            
(21,294)            1,704               -                      -                      215,516           267,985           156,107           

(100,651)          (189,257)          -                      -                      (391,838)          (478,734)          (675,833)          
87,573             154,757           -                      -                      61,688             151,662           69,358             

(34,372)            (30,964)            -                      -                      (114,634)          (61,814)            (461,804)          

-                      (66,587)            -                      -                      -                      293,073           246,996           

2021

Eliminations 2 TotalUrban agglomeration
 responsibilities
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TABLE 7 –  NON-CONSOLIDATED (DEFICIT) SURPLUS OF INVESTING ACTIVITIES  IN CAPITAL ASSETS AND IN LOANS FOR 
TAX PURPOSES BY RESPONSIBILITY (in thousands of dollars)

2021 2020

Total
Budget Actual Budget Actual 1 Budget Actual Actual

Revenues
Transfers 166,500     290,971         160,700  157,615         327,200     448,586         65,195           
Developers contributions -               5,977             1,900      1,491             1,900        7,468             16,963           
Net effect of restructuring operations -               -                    -             -                    -               -                    12,423           
Other revenues -               12,908           -             2,838             -               15,746           6,613             

166,500     309,856         162,600  161,944         329,100     471,800         101,194         
Acquisition of capital assets

General administration 131,700     75,141           76,100    58,714           207,800     133,855         92,035           
Public security -               177               39,400    35,320           39,400       35,497           46,864           
Transportation 2 492,200     366,244         56,600    16,489           548,800     382,733         446,204         
Environmental hygiene 186,300     161,834         402,700  371,378         589,000     533,212         446,491         
Health and welfare -               1,351             -             7,652             -               9,003             3,699             
Urban planning and development 124,100     83,127           4,600      2,794             128,700     85,921           84,395           
Recreation and culture 420,700     300,744         115,200  39,862           535,900     340,606         287,213         

1,355,000  988,618         694,600  532,209         2,049,600  1,520,827      1,406,901      

Issuance of loan -               -                    -             78,386           -               78,386           67,114           

Deficit before financing and allocations (1,188,500) (678,762)        (532,000) (448,651)        (1,720,500) (1,127,413)     (1,372,821)     

Financing

886,200     651,449         424,400  315,986         1,310,600  967,435         724,687         

Allocations (Note 14)
Operating activities -               4,559             -             (1,832)            -               2,727             11,436           
Restricted operating surplus -               21,123           -             -                    -               21,123           12,696           
Financial reserves and reserved funds 302,300     32,136           107,600  102,634         409,900     134,770         810,822         

302,300     57,818           107,600  100,802         409,900     158,620         834,954         

(Deficit) Surplus of investing activities in capital
assets and in loans for tax purposes for the year -               30,505           -             (31,863)          -               (1,358)            186,820         

TotalLocal responsibilities
Urban agglomeration 

responsibilities

Long-term financing of investing activities in capital 
assets and in loans

 

1 The revenues include transfers of $65.1 million (none in 2020), authorized during the year, equal to the municipal administration’s share in the 
cost of the infrastructure work completed under urban agglomeration responsibilities eligible for financial assistance under the TECQ. 
 

2 In 2020, includes $12.4 million in local responsibilities from restructuring operations (none in 2021). 
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TABLE 8 –  NON-CONSOLIDATED ACCUMULATED SURPLUS BY RESPONSIBILITY

Local Urban agglomeration
responsibilities responsibilities Total

Accumulated surplus
Unrestricted operating surplus (deficit) 401,589            (299,157)           102,432            
Restricted operating surplus 639,181            5,006                644,187            
Financial reserves and reserved funds 284,610            364,538            649,148            
Deficit of investing activities in capital assets and in loans (279,186)           (244,025)           (523,211)           
Recognized expenditures to be taxed or funded (1,178,384)        (194,078)           (1,372,462)        
Net investment in capital assets 7,717,654         

7,217,748         

Breakdown of different items

Allocated operating surplus
Allocation to the following year -                       -                       -                       
Restricted surplus - Boroughs 263,621            -                       263,621            
Restricted surplus - Special projects 319,758            5,006                324,764            
Restricted surplus - Other purposes 55,802              -                       55,802              

639,181            5,006                644,187            

Financial reserves and reserved funds
Financial reserves

Water 13,099              6,270                19,369              
Road network 12,714              2,889                15,603              
Capital assets 249,309            354,673            603,982            

275,122            363,832            638,954            
Reserved funds

Working capital 3,536                -                       3,536                
Balance on hand of closed-loan by-laws -                       706                  706                  
Parking areas 5,810                -                       5,810                
Other 142                  -                       142                  

9,488                706                  10,194              

284,610            364,538            649,148            

Recognized expenditures to be taxed or funded
Employee future benefits

Pension plans (32,895)             9,959                (22,936)             
Other plans (86,727)             (5,803)               (92,530)             

(119,622)           4,156                (115,466)           

Environmental liability (32,000)             -                       (32,000)             
QST transitional measure (1,000)               (1,340)               (2,340)               
Loans to PME-MTL - PAUPME -                       61,043              61,043              
Long-term financing of operating activities (1,025,762)        (257,937)           (1,283,699)        

(1,178,384)        (194,078)           (1,372,462)        

2021
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(in thousands of dollars)

Local Urban agglomeration
responsibilities responsibilities Total

Accumulated surplus
Unrestricted operating surplus (deficit) 305,062              (232,570)           72,492              
Restricted operating surplus 663,345              6,711                670,056            
Financial reserves and reserved funds 27,377                277,914            305,291            
Deficit of investing activities in capital assets and in loans (309,691)             (212,162)           (521,853)           
Recognized expenditures to be taxed or funded (1,181,478)          (62,451)             (1,243,929)        
Net investment in capital assets 7,185,288         

6,467,345         

Breakdown of different items

Allocated operating surplus
Allocation to the following year 190,687              -                       190,687            
Restricted surplus - Boroughs 236,405              -                       236,405            
Restricted surplus - Special projects 179,711              6,711                186,422            
Restricted surplus - Other purposes 56,542                -                       56,542              

663,345              6,711                670,056            

Financial reserves and reserved funds
Financial reserves

Water 88                      10,639              10,727              
Road network 15,963                3,324                19,287              
Capital assets 1,754                 263,245            264,999            

17,805                277,208            295,013            
Reserved funds

Working capital 3,526                 -                       3,526                
Balance on hand of closed-loan by-laws 108                    706                  814                  
Parking areas 5,738                 -                       5,738                
Other 200                    -                       200                  

9,572                 706                  10,278              

27,377                277,914            305,291            

Recognized expenditures to be taxed or funded
Employee future benefits

Pension plans (23,404)               82,380              58,976              
Other plans (89,000)               (6,777)               (95,777)             

(112,404)             75,603              (36,801)             

Environmental liability (33,600)               -                       (33,600)             
QST transitional measure (2,000)                (2,540)               (4,540)               
Loans to PME-MTL - PAUPME -                        37,914              37,914              
Long-term financing of operating activities (1,033,474)          (173,428)           (1,206,902)        

(1,181,478)          (62,451)             (1,243,929)        

2020
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TABLE 9 –  NON-CONSOLIDATED BY-ITEM AMOUNTS FOR TAX PURPOSES BY RESPONSIBILITY

Budget Actual
Remuneration

Elected officials 11,891               11,528               
Employees 936,993             971,189             

Benefits costs
Elected officials 4,695                4,788                
Employees 320,335             294,182             

Transportation and communication 31,906               25,873               
Professional, technical and other services

Professional fees 99,905               89,087               
Purchase of technical services 272,707             262,748             
Other 4,140                2,723                

Leasing, maintenance and repairs
Leasing 79,187               75,476               
Maintenance and repairs 86,831               68,887               

Durable goods
Construction 6,896                16,810               
Other durable goods 1,592                436                   

Non-durable goods
Delivery of public services 44,654               37,415               
Other non-durable goods 114,679             102,370             

Financing expenses
Interest and other charges on long-term debt borne by:

The municipality 243,590             238,805             
Government of Québec and its enterprises 14,816               16,183               
Other third parties 19,565               19,415               

Other financing expenses 2,670                (5,533)               
Contributions to organizations

Municipal organizations
Quota shares - Agglomération de Montréal 2,070,135          2,067,728          
Quota shares - Communauté métropolitaine de Montréal 31,108               31,054               
Quota shares - Autorité régionale de transport métropolitain -                       -                       
Other 19,096               9,737                

Government organizations -                       -                       
Other organizations 144,703             151,245             

Other items
Doubtful accounts or bad debts 12,598               7,088                
Net impact of restructuring operations -                       -                       
Other (140,075)            (221,888)            

4,434,617          4,277,346          

2021

Local responsibilities

 

1 Eliminations refer to interjurisdictional transactions. 
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(in thousands of dollars)
2020

Total
Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Actual

-                         -                         -                       -                       11,891               11,528               11,444               
957,346              1,025,817           -                       -                       1,894,339          1,997,006          1,900,856          

-                         -                         -                       -                       4,695                4,788                4,973                
291,221              303,399              -                       -                       611,556             597,581             532,066             

8,383                  6,986                  -                       -                       40,289               32,859               30,753               

18,937                17,527                -                       -                       118,842             106,614             93,537               
107,173              100,470              (418)                  (1,136)               379,462             362,082             345,387             

1,047                  928                    -                       -                       5,187                3,651                5,397                

22,388                30,425                (491)                  (464)                  101,084             105,437             103,184             
31,649                29,387                (423)                  (600)                  118,057             97,674               101,141             

8,829                  8,965                  -                       -                       15,725               25,775               61,813               
5,479                  6,984                  (69)                    (11)                    7,002                7,409                6,264                

41,025                38,270                -                       -                       85,679               75,685               71,692               
48,520                54,815                -                       -                       163,199             157,185             167,482             

78,687                74,992                -                       -                       322,277             313,797             300,040             
14,854                15,662                -                       -                       29,670               31,845               32,806               
48,484                46,966                -                       -                       68,049               66,381               60,705               

730                    126                    -                       -                       3,400                (5,407)               3,145                

-                         -                         (2,070,135)         (2,067,728)         -                       -                       -                       
73,692                11,636                -                       -                       104,800             42,690               41,984               

580,642              622,645              -                       -                       580,642             622,645             619,946             
39,307                38,023                -                       -                       58,403               47,760               51,485               
16,915                17,071                -                       -                       16,915               17,071               16,929               

177,097              206,789              -                       -                       321,800             358,034             285,584             

11,180                7,300                  -                       -                       23,778               14,388               17,025               
-                         -                         -                       -                       -                       -                       9,596                

253,909              240,384              -                       -                       113,834             18,496               12,241               

2,837,494           2,905,567           (2,071,536)         (2,069,939)         5,200,575          5,112,974          4,887,475          

2021

TotalUrban agglomeration responsibilities Eliminations 1
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TABLE 10 –  NON-CONSOLIDATED OPERATING (DEFICIT) SURPLUS  FOR TAX PURPOSES RELATED TO WATER MANAGEMENT
BY RESPONSIBILITY

Budget Actual

Revenues
Quota shares - Water service -                          -                       
Quota shares - Supply of drinking water -                          -                       
Quota shares - TECQ Investment Financing -                          -                       
Quota shares - FCCQ Investment Financing -                          -                       
Quota shares - Rates -                          -                       
Wastewater fees and the sale of Charlemagne drinking water -                          -                       
Water taxe service 396,004               394,537            
Flat rate and meter fees 13,859                 13,369              
Revenues for delegated agglomeration activities 382                     349                  
Other revenues from local sources 1,111                   1,642                
Services rendered 225                     5,887                

411,581               415,784            
Expenditures

Quota shares for financing urban agglomeration activities 204,351               201,945            
Expenditures 128,830               130,229            

333,181               332,174            

Surplus before financing and allocations 78,400                 83,610              

Financing
Repayment of long-term debt 1 (32,862)                (46,441)             

Allocations (Note 14)
Restricted operating surplus -                          -                       
Recognized expenditures to be taxed or funded (527)                    (530)                 
Water financial reserve (45,011)                (45,011)             

(45,538)                (45,541)             

Operating (deficit) surplus  for tax purposes for the year -                          (8,372)               

2021

Local responsibilities

 

1 Repayment of long-term debt includes loan repayments and payments to the Sinking Fund related to loans taken out to finance capital 
expenditures and for which repayment is not covered by third parties. For the purpose of this table, the repayment of long-term debt includes 
financing expenses. 

 
2 Interjurisdictional transactions have been eliminated. 
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(in thousands of dollars)
2020

Total
Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Actual

140,772            140,772            (116,307)          (116,307)           24,465             24,465              24,137              
93,743              93,677              (80,918)            (79,531)             12,825             14,146              13,371              
5,718                5,718                (1,589)              (1,589)               4,129              4,129                4,242                
7,084                7,084                (3,104)              (3,104)               3,980              3,980                3,347                
2,908                1,744                (2,433)              (1,414)               475                 330                  217                  
4,355                4,077                -                      -                       4,355              4,077                3,781                

-                       -                       -                      -                       396,004           394,537            384,325            
-                       -                       -                      -                       13,859             13,369              20,982              
-                       -                       (382)                (349)                 -                     -                       -                       

1,170                1,466                -                      -                       2,281              3,108                1,601                
1,168                166                  -                      -                       1,393              6,053                1,021                

256,918            254,704            (204,733)          (202,294)           463,766           468,194            457,024            

-                       -                       (204,351)          (201,945)           -                     -                       -                       
177,075            184,799            (382)                (349)                 305,523           314,679            295,178            

177,075            184,799            (204,733)          (202,294)           305,523           314,679            295,178            

79,843              69,905              -                      -                       158,243           153,515            161,846            

(68,925)             (69,026)             -                      -                       (101,787)          (115,467)           (100,143)           

-                       -                       -                      -                       -                     -                       7,940                
-                       -                       -                      -                       (527)                (530)                 (524)                 

(10,918)             (10,918)             -                      -                       (55,929)            (55,929)             (58,912)             

(10,918)             (10,918)             -                      -                       (56,456)            (56,459)             (51,496)             

-                       (10,039)             -                      -                       -                     (18,411)             10,207              

2021

responsibilities Eliminations 2 Total
Urban agglomeration
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TABLE 11 – NON-CONSOLIDATED SURPLUS (DEFICIT) OF CAPITAL ASSET INVESTING ACTIVITIES FOR TAX PURPOSES

RELATED TO WATER MANAGEMENT BY RESPONSIBILITY (in thousands of dollars)
2021 2020

Total
Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Actual

Revenues
Transfers 29,366           244,402         123,791         148,535         153,157         392,937         31,832           
Other revenues -                    -                    -                    29                 -                    29                 150               

29,366           244,402         123,791         148,564         153,157         392,966         31,982           

Acquisition of capital assets
Drinking water production  -                    -                    158,408         136,488         158,408         136,488         135,858         
Wastewater treatment -                    -                    103,315         142,830         103,315         142,830         55,621           
Water and wastewater - Secondary infrastructures 181,300         152,503         12,957           5,931             194,257         158,434         189,363         
Buildings -                    9,142             -                    2,948             -                    12,090           21,255           

181,300         161,645         274,680         288,197         455,980         449,842         402,097         

(Deficit) Surplus before financing and allocations (151,934)        82,757           (150,889)        (139,633)        (302,823)        (56,876)          (370,115)        

Financing

106,923         16,533           132,962         198,550         239,885         215,083         74,660           

Allocations (Note 14) 
Water financial reserve 45,011           32,036           17,927           15,334           62,938           47,370           76,008           

Surplus (Deficit) of capital asset activities 

for tax purposes for the year -                    131,326         -                    74,251           -                    205,577         (219,447)        

Local responsibilities
Urban agglomeration 

responsibilities Total

Long-term financing of investing activities in 
capital assets
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 
 
 
 
To the Mayor, 
The Chair and the Members of the Executive Committee, 
The Members of the City Council of Ville de Montréal, 
The Members of the Montreal Agglomeration Council 
 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the accompanying Table of Breakdown of Mixed Expenditures of Ville de Montréal (the 
«City») between local responsibilities and urban agglomeration responsibilities for the year ended 
December 31, 2021 and supplementary notes, including a summary of significant accounting policies 
(hereinafter referred to as the « Table »).  
 
In our opinion, the financial information presented into the Table of the City for the year ended December 
31, 2021, has been prepare by management, in all material respects, based on by-law RCG06-54 
adopted by the Montreal Agglomeration Council on December 13, 2006 and its subsequent changes 
(hereinafter “the regulatory requirements”).  
 
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards of Canada. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Table section of our report. We are independent of the City in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the Table in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  
 
Emphasis of Matter-Basis of Accounting  
We draw attention to Note 3 to the Table, which describes the basis of accounting applied. The Table has 
been prepared to assist the City to comply with the regulatory requirements. As a result, the Table may 
not suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Table 
Management is responsible for the preparation of the Table in accordance with the regulatory 
requirements and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of a Table that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the City’s financial reporting process.  
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Table 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Table are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards of Canada will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exits. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the Table.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards of Canada, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Table, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or override of internal control. 
 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management and related disclosures made by 
management. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.  
 
 

 

 

 

Michèle Galipeau, FCPA auditor, FCA  
Auditor General of the Ville de Montréal 

1 CPA auditor, CA, public accountancy permit No A116207 
  

 
 
Montréal, Québec 
May 5, 2022 
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TABLE OF BREAKDOWN OF MIXED EXPENDITURES BY RESPONSIBILITY

Budget Actual

Expenditures
General administration 165,669                 121,940                 
Transportation 60,947                  82,298                  
Environmental hygiene 20,325                  26,248                  
Health and welfare 1,108                    886                       
Urban planning and development 7,701                    7,492                    
Recreation and culture 23,770                  23,625                  

Total expenditures 279,520                 262,489                 

2021

Local responsibilities

 

1 Eliminations refer to interjurisdictional transactions. 
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(in thousands of dollars)
2020

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Actual

176,271                 186,086                 (1)                   (1)                   341,939           308,025           299,497            
1,955                     6,633                     -                     -                     62,902            88,931            61,685              
8,063                     8,852                     (1)                   (2)                   28,387            35,098            27,526              
1,203                     1,011                     -                     -                     2,311              1,897              3,660                
6,632                     6,621                     -                     (2)                   14,333            14,111            12,899              
6,437                     6,481                     -                     -                     30,207            30,106            29,123              

200,561                 215,684                 (2)                   (5)                   480,079           478,168           434,390            

2021

Urban agglomeration responsibilities Eliminations 1 Total
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Municipal Administration – Breakdown of Mixed Expenditures – Supplementary Notes 
December 31, 2021 

1. MIXED EXPENDITURES 

An Act respecting the exercise of certain municipal powers in certain urban agglomerations (CQLR, chapter E-20.001), completed 
by the Montréal Agglomeration Order (Order-in-Council No. 1229-2005) and the orders that amended it thereafter, lists and 
defines the urban agglomeration responsibilities. Under this Act, expenditures incurred by the Ville de Montréal in carrying out 
by the municipal administration an act that falls within the exercise of an agglomeration power and, at the same time, another 
power, are considered mixed expenditures; these mixed expenditures are subject to a by-law of the urban agglomeration council 
that sets out criteria for establishing which portion of the mixed expenditure is an expenditure related to the exercise of an 
agglomeration power. 

The term “municipal administration” refers to Ville de Montréal excluding the organizations under its control. 

 

 

2. BREAKDOWN OF MIXED EXPENDITURES 

The mixed expenditures of the municipal administration are broken down between local and agglomeration powers in accordance 
with the criteria and calculation method defined in by-law RCG06-054, adopted by the urban agglomeration council on 
December 31, 2006 and its subsequent changes. 

Therefore, the portion of a mixed expenditure related to transportation, environmental hygiene, health and welfare, urban planning 
and development, as well as recreation and culture, which constitutes an expenditure incurred in exercising agglomeration 
powers, is determined using factual quantitative data or a quantitative measure of the human or financial resources allocated to 
the expenditure. 

Also, the portion of a mixed expenditure that is a general administrative expenditure incurred by one or more support units in the 
exercise of agglomeration powers is determined using an administrative expenditure rate applied to the agglomeration 
expenditures, excluding debt service expenditures, contribution expenditures, contingency expenditures and mixed general 
administrative expenditures. The administrative expenditure rate is calculated annually on the basis of criteria set out in the 
above-mentioned by-laws. The rate applicable in 2021 is 9.67%. 

 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The expenditures presented in the Breakdown of Mixed Expenditures Table are extracted from the consolidated financial 
statements of the Ville de Montréal for the year ended December 31, 2021, which are prepared in accordance with CPSAS. 
Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements describes the accounting policies applied. 

By their very nature, the mixed expenditures for the municipal administration do not include any tax reconciliation items. 
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INTRODUCTION  

 

The first climate-related financial disclosure by Ville de Montréal dates to 2019. 

This initiative was a direct result of Ville de Montréal and other Canadian cities’ 

participation in the working group organized by CPA Canada to promote the 

integration and disclosure of climate-related risks and opportunities and their 

impacts on municipal finances. The information published in this section is 

voluntary and presented according to the best knowledge acquired to date by the 

City, following the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related 

Financial Disclosures (TCFD)1 .  

 

While the application of this framework was initially geared to businesses 

operating in the financial sector, today, it is used by various private and public 

global organizations. Over the past three years, it has continued to gain ground in 

Canadian cities and federal government organizations, given that, like most 

industries, governments are not immune to climate change risks.  

 

The current pandemic has shaken the foundations of every type of organization and compelled 

them to evolve swiftly, and it has highlighted, among other revelations, that both human and 

natural systems are interdependent, inextricable, and increasingly fragile. The risks, such as those related to climate change, 

can arise quickly and evolve dynamically, resulting in impacts of catastrophic proportions. Environmental, social, and 

governance (ESG) concerns will now be at the heart of strategies to build organizational resilience and ensure economic stability 

and global wellness. Thus, this report has included two new sections, Natural Assets and Equity, diversity and social inclusion 

in Ville de Montréal. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
1 https://www.fsb-tcfd.org/. 
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Cities are first in line to face any shock or stress to which they could be exposed to, particularly the growing physical risks 

related to climate change. By 20502, cities will be home to two-thirds of the world’s population, which will be increasingly 

vulnerable to this major climate issue. Like the consequences felt under COVID-19, climate change knows no boundaries and 

does not discriminate, and in a non-uniform manner, its effects are already being felt around the globe. 

 

Climate change is without question a medium- and long-term threat to natural capital, social, human capital, and economic and 

financial capital. From a financial viewpoint, the main repercussions on the municipal administration will be felt in revenues, 

operating expenditures, investments, and the cost of funding, affecting the stability of its financial framework. 

 

Thus, to mitigate the impacts of climate change, actions arising from two strategic orientations should be promoted. On the one 

hand, immediate actions are needed to ensure a quick and seamless transition to a low carbon economy, and on the other 

hand, effective and efficient adaptation measures are essential to build cities' resilience to climate change. Like for all public 

and private organizations, these two orientations are vital to help cities preserve the established environment without 

compromising essential services to their citizens and to ensure a prosperous environment suitable for economic, social, 

environmental, and cultural development.  

 

Finally, cities have an opportunity to play a leadership role by demonstrating exemplary behaviour. For instance, Ville de 

Montréal and other Canadian cities, such as Edmonton, Toronto, and Vancouver have added in their Annual Financial Report, 

for the purposes of transparency, coherence and comparability, the unaudited section, which addresses climate-related financial 

disclosures, in accordance with the TCFD recommendations.  

 

 
2 https://www.un.org/development/desa/en/news/population/2018-revision-of-world-urbanization-prospects.html. 

https://www.un.org/development/desa/en/news/population/2018-revision-of-world-urbanization-prospects.html
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CONTEXT 

World Economic Forum 

Climate change is one of the most severe risks facing humanity. 

The Global Risks Report 20223, published by the World 

Economic Forum, highlights the top ten most severe global risks 

over the next decade. Climate action failure, extreme weather as 

well as biodiversity loss are ranked as the top three most severe 

global threats over the next ten years. Despite the global impacts 

caused by the ongoing pandemic, infectious diseases rank only 

in sixth place.  

 

According to the Sixth Assessment Report of the 

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), climate 

events are worsening and without immediate action, the impacts 

will be so devastating and severe that they will surpass the 

possible adaptation limits for many countries.  

 

Moreover, the United Nations declared that this Report is a “red 

code’’4 for humanity, hence the importance of taking rapid actions 

to reduce global greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) by at least 

50% by 2030 to avoid an irreversible rise in temperatures and to limit the climate impacts to a global warming level below 1.5°C 

by the end of the century, as stipulated in the 2015 Paris Agreement. However, according to the IPCC, considering the current 

emissions trajectory and future forecasts, this temperature rise will likely occur in 20 years rather than by 2100. Thus, there is a 

clear urgency of acting now.   

 

 

COP26 and alignment with the 1.5°C target of the Paris Agreement 

In November 2021, as part of COP26, nearly 200 country leaders met in Glasgow during a conference organized by the United 

Nations on climate change to discuss progress made on the pledges and commitments undertaken during the Paris Agreement 

at the COP21 in 2015. This gathering was considered as the last chance to reach an agreement on, among other matters, new 

measures to limit climate change to below 2°C and aim for the 1.5°C goal to be able to adapt to climate change impacts and raise 

the necessary funds to achieve this objective.  

 

After two weeks of meetings, the Glasgow Climate Pact was adopted following a series of compromises that allowed to strengthen 

pledges to reduce carbon emissions and slowly phase-out of fossil fuels. Also, increase the financial assistance provided to 

developing countries, or those most vulnerable countries that are the first and on the front line of climate change impacts.  

 

However, this Pact did not create the transformative breakthroughs needed to further align with the 1.5°C goal by the end of the 

century and avoid worse climate catastrophes that could potentially be disastrous and irreversible for humanity due to global 

warming, as recently, the scientific community confirmed it.  
 

To that end, rather than wait for the next five-year conference5, many parties have advocated for an update of the Nationally 

Determined Contributions (NDCs) to review the actions of each country as of 2022 to keep the 1.5°C target goal alive. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
3 https://www.weforum.org/reports/global-risks-report-2022. 
4 https://www.un.org/press/en/2021/sgsm20847.doc.htm. 
5 https://unfccc.int/about-us/partnerships/current-calls-for-partnerships/call-for-action-partnerships-for-2022-and-2023-including-cop-27. 



 

84 

 

The Climate Action Tracker (CAT), a consortium of climate scientists, closely tracks governments' climate actions and pledges to 

measure their progress against the globally agreed objective under the Paris Agreement. In November 2021, this consortium 

published updated global temperature rise projections till the end of the century based on current pledges and based on the new 

agreements and pledges negotiated under the Glasgow Climate Pact.  

 

 

CAT findings 

Based on the policies and current global actions, 

the global temperature is expected to rise to 

2.7°C by the end of the century.  

 

The new promises made during the COP26 

Climate Summit will likely increase to 2.4°C6 

global warming by the end of the century. This 

temperature is clearly above the 1.5°C goal 

agreed upon by the various nations during the 

Paris Agreement, as there are significant gaps 

between the long-term objectives and the current 

actions to reach the net-zero emission target by 

2050. This lack of consistency was described as 

a “deficit of credibility” during COP26.  
 

The publication of 2021 by the Royal Institute of 

International Affairs (Chatham House), a globally renowned policy institute based in London, entitled “Climate change risk 

assessment 2021-The risks are compounding, and without immediate actions, the impacts will be devastating”7, does not discount 

the worst-case scenario of a 7°C end-of-century warming. Unfortunately, it is still possible to reach this point of no return, especially 

in cases where the current GHG reduction pledges and political actions stagnate or fail.  

 

 

Climate impacts at 1.5°C versus 2°C 

Since the pre-industrial era, the average global temperature has risen by about 1.2°C, and this temperature has risen about twice 

as fast as the global average8 in Canada. According to the IPCC, at 1.5°C warming, humanity will be confronted with severe 

climate impacts, and the effects will worsen considerably at 2°C warming, thereby significantly affecting hundreds of millions of 

lives, species and the global economy by 2050.  

 

This difference between the two temperatures seems small, but the impacts will be significant and even catastrophic. For example, 

according to the GARP article ‘‘Making sense of COP26: A Short Guide to Reaching Net Zero’’9, by limiting global warming to 

1.5°C, about 420 million fewer people will be exposed to extreme heatwaves, and about 65 million fewer people will be 

experiencing to exceptional heatwaves. However, under a 2°C warming scenario, the global mean sea level would rise more 

significantly by about 100 cm by 2100 than under the 1.5°C scenario. Although this doesn’t seem like a big difference, this rise 

will affect 10 million more people if there are no adaptation measures. Limiting warming to 1.5°C will also reduce the impacts on 

biodiversity and ecosystems, such as species loss and extinction while retaining the major value of their services to humans. The 

declining ocean productivity will also lead to a slowdown in fishery activities, which will be more affected under the 2°C warming 

scenario as opposed to the 1.5°C.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
6 https://climateactiontracker.org/publications/glasgows-2030-credibility-gap-net-zeros-lip-service-to-climate-action/. 
7 https://www.chathamhouse.org/sites/default/files/2021-09/2021-09-14-climate-change-risk-assessment-quiggin-et-al.pdf. 
8 https://www.canada.ca/fr/environnement-changement-climatique/services/indicateurs-environnementaux/changements-temperature.html. 
9 https://www.garp.org/risk-intelligence/sustainability-climate/making-sense-of-cop26-211126. 
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The World Resources Institute (WRI)10 recently published the six big findings of the most recent IPCC report (AR 6)11 on climate 

impacts, adaptation, and vulnerability, indicating that every tenth of a degree of additional warming will escalate further threats to 

people, species, and ecosystems. Also, reaching the 1.5°C target warming goal does not entirely guarantee a safe and secure 

path for the planet and humanity. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The current effects of climate at 1.2°C warming 

At a current 1.2°C global temperature warming since the pre-industrial era, climate change is already manifesting around the 

world in the form of natural disasters threatening the means of life and livelihood. From rising sea levels to floods, forest fires to 

extreme heatwaves and droughts, these climate events translate into economic, environmental, and human costs and losses that 

are too significant to be ignored.  

 

 

Climate events in Western Canada  

The year 2021 was a challenging period since it was the year during which some of the hottest temperatures in the world were 

recorded, and Canada, the second-coldest country in the world, was not spared. Several noteworthy climate events were observed 

in Western Canada, specifically in the province of British Columbia, which was the epicentre of these extreme climate events.  

 

Over a very short period, the province experienced several events, including the deadly heat dome during the summertime, where 

the temperature soared to a record 49.6°C12. This period was also marked by more intense droughts, forest fires, and the formation 

of atmospheric rivers following torrential downpours resulting in record floods and landslides.   

 

These multiple events caused a number of severe impacts, including deaths, destruction of the community of Lytton Village, the 

evacuation of thousands of citizens, the increase in insured and uninsured costs, the physical health as well as mental distress, 

which, in turn, resulted in additional pressure on the emergency services system. The economic losses related to international 

trades were also significant because of the disturbances that these events caused to the transportation systems and to the Port 

of Vancouver activities, the third-largest Port in Canada. This situation has resulted in major interruptions to the country’s supply 

chains, thereby creating shortages for certain products.   

 

 

 

 
10 https://www.wri.org/insights/ipcc-report-2022-climate-impacts-adaptation-vulnerability?utm_campaign=wridigest&utm_source=wridigest-2022-03-01&utm_medium=email&utm_content=image. 
11 https://www.ipcc.ch/report/sixth-assessment-report-working-group-ii/. 
12 https://www.ouranos.ca/changements-climatiques-tour-dhorizon-2021/?utm_source=Cyberimpact&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=Infolettre---Janvier-2022. 
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Costs of insured damages in Canada 

These extreme climate events are clear testimony that climate change is real and has a cumulative effect and is considered as a 

systemic risks that creates impacts that have a domino effect on the society, the environment, and the global economy. These 

events are not isolated cases, since Quebec and Canada are hit by extreme weather events annually that result in significant 

human, material, and financial losses.  

 

Based on data published by the Insurance Bureau of Canada (IBC)13, the cost of insured catastrophic losses in Canada related 

to, for instance, floods, torrential rains, tornadoes, hurricanes, fires, and ice storms, amounts on average to roughly $2.2 billion 

dollars annually over the past ten years. For the year 2021, the IBC estimated that the insured losses related to these extreme 

events occurring in Canada total as much as 2.1 billion dollars. In Canada, insured damage costs have risen on average 3.5 

times more, or 245%, over the period 2011 to 2021, compared to 2001-2010. In Quebec, for this same period, the increase was 

3.8 times greater, or 287%. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Impact of flooding on the real estate market 
 

Today, about 20% of the Canadian population is vulnerable 

to floods, and of this percentage,11% are considered to be 

at high risk of flooding14. These percentages are expected 

to increase as precipitation intensifies as a result of climate 

change, notably causing significant damage to real estate 

and to grey and natural infrastructures. Accordingly, the 

Intact Centre’s report published in December 2021 entitled 

‘‘Treading water: Impact of catastrophic flooding on 

Canada’s housing market’’15 raised the topic of the 

consequences of flooding on the housing market, such as 

on the final sale price, on the number of days on the market 

to sell a house and on the number of houses listed on the 

market.  

 

 
13 The information provided to Ville de Montréal by the Insurance Bureau of Canada as of February 14, 2022. http://www.ibc.ca/fr/on. 
14 https://publicdocs.nait.ca/sites/pd/_layouts/15/docidredir.aspx?ID=4NUSZQ57DJN7-208515216-20995. 
15 https://www.centreintactadaptationclimat.ca/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/UoW_CIAC_2022_02_Nager-sur-place_Marche-habitation.pdf. 

Insured Catastrophic Losses in Canada 
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A catastrophic loss = 1 event costing $25 million or more in insured damages

$ Billion

LOSS + LOSS ADJUSTEMENT EXPENSES

ESTIMATED TREND

$2.4 B

1983-2000: $412 M (average)

2001-2010: $632 M (average)

2011-2021: $2.2 B (average)

Canada: 245% or 3.5 times
Quebec: 287% or 3.8 times

Source : IBC Facts Book, PCS, CatIQ, Swiss Re, Munich Re & Deloitte (Values in 2021 $ CAN,2021 preliminary).
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NATURAL ASSETS AND EQUITY, DIVERSITY, AND SOCIAL INCLUSION IN 
A CLIMATE CONTEXT  
 
Natural assets  

The preservation of natural capital is crucial due to the multitude of 

vital elements that it provides, specifically, food, water, shelter, 

climate regulation, the maintenance of nutrient cycles, and the 

production of oxygen as well as the spiritual, cultural, and 

recreational vitality, thereby making it possible to improve the human 

health and well-being.  

 

As with the physical capital (roads, buildings, and factories) and the 

human capital (health, knowledge, and skills), the natural capital, 

through its ecosystem and biodiversity, enables nature to be 

productive, resilient in the face of shocks such as climate risks while 

ensuring the maintenance of essential and vital services for 

humanity. According to Professor Sir Partha Dasgupta, a renowned 

economist recognized for his recent published report entitled “The 

Economics of Biodiversity: The Dasgupta Review’’16, ecosystem 

products and services support all economic activities, and the more 

biodiversity is reduced, the greater will be nature and humanity 

suffering  
 

Ville de Montréal initiatives 

In June 2021, Ville de Montréal, along with other Canadian cities, supported the Intact Centre on Climate Adaptation in its 

response to the two Exposure Drafts issued by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB), i.e., the ‘‘Conceptual Framework for 

Financial Reporting in the Public Sector’’ and Proposed Section PS 1202 “Financial Statement Presentation”, addressing the 

recognition of natural capital as an asset in Canadian public sector accounting. Furthermore, the Intact Centre on Climate 

Adaptation has proposed numerous recommendations, particularly the development of guidance for accounting for natural 

resources valuation, such as the initiatives spearheaded by the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB). 

 

Progress to date 

In November 2021, the PSAB organized a group meeting on the discussions around the emerging issues of accounting for natural 

capital. Several discussions took place on, among other matters, the benefits, restrictions, and challenges surrounding the 

presentation, evaluation, and recognition of natural assets in financial statements.  

 

At the end of the discussions, most group members agreed that a certain form of natural assets declaration would be important 

for the PSAB to consider in its future work. Other members asked that such declaration be a key priority for the Board.  

 

Work planned in 2022 and 2023 

In February 2022, Environment and Climate Change Canada (ECCC), the CSA Group, and the Municipal Natural Assets Initiative 

(MNAI) signed an agreement where the CSA Group will develop a new national Canadian standard for natural assets inventories 

entitled “Methodology for Completing Natural Asset Inventories”17. As a first step in the natural asset management process, this 

new standard will enable local governments to make the accounting and valuation treatment of natural assets comparable and 

replicable across Canada. A draft of this standard will be available for public consultation at the end of 2022, and a new publication 

is to be released around June 2023. 

 

 

 

 
16 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/962785/The_Economics_of_Biodiversity_The_Dasgupta_Review_Full_Report.pdf. 
17 https://www.csagroup.org/news/new-national-standard-of-canada-will-help-standardize-natural-asset-inventories/. 
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Equity, diversity, and social inclusion 

Climate change poses a significant threat to the global 

population, especially to communities that are the least 

responsible for such changes. Today, these communities are 

often the most vulnerable to climate hazards and will be more 

so in the future, notably for communities with low income, 

disadvantaged individuals, minorities, ethnic groups, the 

elderly, etc. As climate change impacts intensify, the existing 

inequities will worsen and create conditions for new inequities. 

Thus, the urgency of ensuring the current state of equity will 

be far more complex to achieve in the future to protect lives 

and avoid worsening and increasing gaps in the inequities, 

massive migrations, and major economic upheavals. 

 

The impacts of climate change on inequities are complex and 

dynamic. In a report entitled “Health of Canadians in a 

Changing Climate, Advancing our Knowledge for Action”18, 

Health Canada has set out several crucial messages for the 

existing health inequities:  

▪ Climate change can worsen the existing health inequities. 

For example, the disproportionate impact of extreme 

heatwaves on health can increase the vulnerability of 

certain people and populations to the health risks 

associated with climate change. 

 

▪ Measures to mitigate and adapt to climate change implemented outside of the health sector may either positively or negatively 

impact determinants of health and health results. An inclusive and equitable community participation is essential to the 

adaptation process to design and implement efficient adaptation measures that protect the health of citizens.  

 

Diversity, equity, and inclusion at Ville de Montréal 

In 2021, Ville de Montréal was committed to taking concrete actions in line with its 

Master Plan for Employment, Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion, along with its Solidarity, 

Equity, and Inclusion Plan for the vulnerable Montréal population. These plans aim 

to reduce inequities and fight racism as well as systemic discrimination.  
 

In its Solidarity, Equity, and Inclusion Plan: So No One is Left Behind, 71 actions are 

set out to promote greater solidarity in Montréal and make the City more equitable 

and inclusive. Specifically, this plan presents five major areas of action for reducing 

social inequity under three intervention scales: The human scale, the neighbourhood 

scale, and the City-wide scale:  

▪ Access to quality local services regardless of status and living conditions. 

▪ Meet the basic needs in terms of nutrition and housing. 

▪ Provide public spaces where the Montreal population can appropriate and thrive. 

▪ Set an exemplary city that consistently takes action against all forms of systemic 

discrimination across all sectors of society.  

▪ Residents who fully contribute to economic life based on their training and aspirations. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
18 https://changingclimate.ca/health-in-a-changing-climate/fr/. 
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES (TCFD) 
 
Purpose of the TCFD  

The TCFD19 recommendations provide to all 

market participants with guidelines on 

disclosing information about the financial 

consequences of climate-related risks and 

opportunities. Organizations are encouraged 

to consider these risks and opportunities in all 

organizational decisions, including 

investments.  

 

In other words, the TCFD framework urges 

organizations to conduct climate-related risk 

and opportunity assessments by using 

scenarios analysis to determine the short-, 

medium-, and long-term impacts of climate 

change on their financial position and take 

them into account during strategic decision-

making.  

 

While the TCFD is an international organization that seeks to strengthen and protect global financial markets against risks arising 

from climate change, this organization currently has over 3,000 members in 89 jurisdictions. These members come from various 

industries, including government institutions. Government institutions include, for instance, central banks, Crown corporations, 

and Canadian cities, including Ville de Montréal.  

 

 

Canadian Municipal Network for TCFD  

Like all organizations and cities, Ville de Montréal is just as exposed to different risks of climate change. In addition, given that the 

cities' activities are limited to local activities, they become even more exposed to geographic risk, especially following climate 

catastrophes where their economic, environmental, and social fabric may be affected. In 2021, various violent and successive 

climate events occurred over a short period that affected Western Canadian cities, particularly those located in the province of 

British Columbia. The scope and the magnitude of these climate disasters were exacerbated by the creation of the domino effect, 

for instance, causing the collapse of a city. Therefore, sound management of these climate risks is imperative to preserve 

administrative city functions while ensuring essential services provided to the public.  

 

Since 2019, Ville de Montréal has been working in concert with three major Canadian cities (Edmonton, Toronto, and Vancouver). 

This joint work aims to promote transparency, comparability, and standardization of climate-related financial disclosure practices. 

This network has committed to including this information in an unaudited section of their annual financial report so that this 

information remains coherent, material, and clear to all stakeholders.  

 

 

TCFD in Canada 

As of 2022, Canadian Crown corporations with assets over one billion dollars will begin, on an annual basis, to disclose climate-

related financial information. For the smaller Crown Corporations, they will start to disclose by 2024. In addition, the federal 

government encourages provinces and territories to do the same. Also, in 2021, the G7 and G20 nations agreed to transition to 

the mandatory disclosure of climate-related financial information. 

 

 

 

 

 
19 https://assets.bbhub.io/company/sites/60/2021/10/FINAL-2017-TCFD-Report.pdf. 
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TCFD recommendations in the ISSB’s work 

During the United Nations Climate Change Conference (COP26), the 

trustees of the IFRS Foundation announced the creation of a new 

international organization, the International Sustainability Standards Board 

(ISSB). This Board will be setting sustainability disclosure standards for 

worldwide organizations. Montréal was selected along with the City of 

Frankfurt (Germany) to support the work of this board on establishing 

international standards for climate and ESG disclosure (Environment, Social 

and Governance). 

 

During the same year, the Technical Readiness Working Group (TRWG) 

chaired by the IFRS Foundation, sent a series of recommendations to the 

ISSB on the creation of norms and standards for disclosing climate-related 

financial information. These recommendations were compiled according to 

the four TCFD core elements essential to the proper functioning of an 

organization: Governance, Strategy, Risk Management, and Metrics and 

Targets. 

 

 

 

 

TCFD at Ville de Montréal 

Every year, Montreal reviews its progress on the implementation of the 

TCFD recommendations. This exercise is carried out based on a 

Chartered Professional Accountants (CPA) guide, developed for cities, 

entitled “Enhancing Climate-related Disclosure by Cities: A Guide to 

Adopting the Recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related 

Financial Disclosures (TCFD)”20. This CPA Guide allows each 

organization to assess its progress and maturity annually in applying the 

TCFD recommendations following its four core elements.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
20 https://www.cpacanada.ca/en/business-and-accounting-resources/financial-and-non-financial-reporting/sustainability-environmental-and-social-reporting/publications/tcfd-guide-for-cities. 
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The City’s current alignment with TCFD recommendations 

At Ville de Montréal, the level of maturity is expressed as a percentage of alignment by considering each progress phase and 

core element of the TCFD recommendations.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

High integration stage  
The degree of progress remains unchanged from last year given that, during the 2021 municipal elections, the municipal officials 

were re-elected, and their mandates renewed. Consequently, the City’s global orientations and strategies stated in the Montréal 

2030 strategic plan are being maintained.  

 

Status report 
The year 2021 also marked the launch of some initiatives and there was headway made in the three stages of the TCFD 

recommendations.  

 

In Phase 1 of Risk Management, each of the business units has begun the process of identifying and prioritizing the key risks at 

the global level, to which it is exposed, in particular, climate-related risks. Following this initiative, the key business risks will be 

prioritized to manage those most relevant to the City.  

 

Phase 2 of Governance of municipal bodies was also marked by the development of a Climate Test tool developed by the City 

and the application thereof, on an exploratory basis, for some projects included in the Ten-year capital works program (PDI 2022-

2031). This new tool allows the alignment and consistency of various City projects and programs with the climate commitments 

of the City’s Climate Plan 2020-2030.  

 

A few elements have been added in Phase 3 under the Governance of municipal bodies following the publication of the Montréal 

2030 strategic plan. Among the City’s five priorities, the acceleration of ongoing commitments for ecological transition is at the top 

of priorities. In other words, municipal bodies are very closely involved in all climate-related matters. In 2021, one of the new 

initiatives undertaken by the City is its participation in the Climate Budget Pilot project organized by the C40 Cities (C40).   
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GOVERNANCE: MUNICIPAL BODIES  

The year 2021 was marked by a reaffirmation of the willingness of citizens to continue to pursue the ongoing orientations of the 

City, specifically those related to climate change. As such, the mayor and her team, the key decision-makers at Ville de Montréal, 

were re-elected for a second term to lead Montréal. The renewal of this mandate will help ensure continuity in the implementation 

of actions and strategies in accordance with the City’s guiding orientations as set out in its Montréal 2030 strategic plan. At the 

City, the climate remains at the heart of strategies and engagements, given that, this year, Montréal’s mayor was also elected as 

Vice-Chair of the C40 Cities Steering Committee. This further strengthens the City's commitment, as a global leader, to actively 

engaged in the fight against climate change. 

 

The objective of the Montréal 2030 strategic plan is to relaunch the City on the economic and social fronts in the context of the 

ongoing health and sanitary crisis. The plan revolves around four essential City orientations, three scales of intervention focused 

on human-centred actions, lively neighbourhoods, and a vibrant metropolis, as well as 20 priorities linked to the Sustainable 

Development Goals (SDGs)21 of the United Nations. 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The strategic planning and organizational performance division 

The strategic planning and organization performance division was created to ensure coordination of the City’s strategic planning 

cycle, including its implementation. Thus, its mission is to deploy the tools and mechanisms needed to promote results-based 

management and ensure that the decision-making processes are aligned.  

 

Accordingly, it ensures the consistency and prioritization of actions, projects, and programs as well as to optimize the efficient 

management of human and financial resources. Also, it puts forward strategic projects allowing the capitalization on lessons 

learned, innovation, and the ongoing improvement of the organization as well as responding to major urban challenges. Its work 

is subdivided into two major scales of intervention: The implementation of organizational performance and urban innovation 

indicators as well as the identification of strategic opportunities. 

 

 

 

 

 
21 https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/fr/. 

https://www.linkedin.com/company/c40-cities-climate-leadership-group/?lipi=urn%3Ali%3Apage%3Ad_flagship3_detail_base%3BPJf4HFDeSOqeL9WGMIPFuQ%3D%3D
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Plans, programs, and policies proceeding from the Montréal 
2030 strategic plan 
 

Several new projects and strategic plans were put in place to meet the main orientations of the City’s overall strategy Montréal 

2030. One example of these strategies is those set out in the Climate Plan 2020-2030 developed by the Bureau de la transition 

écologique et de la résilience (BTER) in collaboration with various business units and a committee of external experts. This 

Climate Plan includes 46 actions grouped into five sectors and is established with the overall City’s major orientations.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As a complement to the Climate Plan, other new projects and strategic plans were implemented, specifically to create new ways 

of doing things in connection with the creation, preservation, and valorization of the built framework and the urban landscape so 

that Ville de Montréal becomes more resilient to climate change, more responsible on the ecological front, and more economically 

robust.  

 

The Montréal 2030 Agenda for Quality and Exemplarity in Design and Architecture includes 

six strategies aimed at creating a design culture for the municipal actors and architecture and 

design professionals with regard to bringing their projects to life. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

The 2050 Urban Design and Mobility Plan explores the various 

ways in which the City may be designed to meet the future 

aspirations and needs of its population. Thus, major changes are 

outlined in the Plan, such as the orientations, actions, and solutions 

to be carried out to make Montréal a greener, more inclusive, and 

resilient city while aiming for social and territorial equity and 

providing quality of life for its citizens.  

 

 

 

 

 

The Urban Agriculture Strategy 2021-2026 will reaffirm Montréal’s role as an urban agriculture 

leader, promote the accessibility of this practice and ensure its full development in a harmonious 

and sustainable manner. It also responds to the keen interest among citizens for local agriculture 

that favours the creation of social ties. 

 

Buildings Exemplarity of 

the City  

Governance Mobility, urban 

planning, and 

urban 

development 

Mobilization 

of the 

Montréal 

community 
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GOVERNANCE: MANAGERS   

BUREAU DE LA TRANSITION ÉCOLOGIQUE ET  
DE LA RÉSILIENCE 
 
The Bureau de la transition écologique et de la résilience (BTER) has been in operation for three years. Today, the Bureau is 

under the supervision of the Assistant City manager for Quality of Life and reports directly to the elected official responsible for 

ecological transition and the environment, who is also a member of the executive committee, Marie-Andrée Mauger.  

 

 

The BTER’s priority actions in 2022 

These priorities are aligned with the Climate Plan 2020-2030: 

▪ Pursue studies to deploy a low-emission zone (LEZ) pilot 

project. 

▪ Integrate the methodology to devote 10% to 15% of the 

Ten-year capital works program (PDI) for natural and 

innovative infrastructures. 

▪ Publish a census of the eco-fiscality measures for Ville 

de Montréal. 

▪ Publish the first annual accountability report for the 

Climate Plan 2020-2030. 

▪ Develop and launch a community garden renewal 

program. 

▪ Gradually integrate the Climate Test as a tool for 

decision-making processes of new major projects and 

programs. 

▪ Continue mobilizing employees and raising their climate 

change awareness at every organizational level of the 

City.  

 

 

Climate change is increasingly being addressed in the City at every organizational level. Formal and informal meetings continue 

to be organized between the various organizational levels as well as between the City’s various business units. The point of these 

meetings is to make progress on the actions taken to mitigate or adapt to climate change.  

 

With respect to employee mobilization, to facilitate buy-in to the new practices and actions set out in the Climate Plan, the City 

continues to create information modules, training groups, and workshops for the ecological transition to make employees more 

aware and conscious of climate issues. One example of such practices was the collaborative work between the BTER, the 

Laboratoire de l’innovation urbaine de Montréal (LIUM) and three boroughs (Montréal-North, the South-West, and Mercier–

Hochelaga-Maisonneuve) aimed at mobilizing blue-collar workers and enabling them to take part in the Montréal 2030 strategic 

alignment. Accordingly, these training workshops, ideation sessions, and follow-up sessions supporting the ecological transition 

were organized, as this was one of the practical themes close to the blue-collar workers and on which they have the power to act. 

 

Lastly, another example is the BTER’s collaboration with the various internal and external committees in connection with 

Montréal’s Urban Agriculture Strategy 2021-2026. During these meetings, several exchanges of ideas and expertise are discussed 

on various issues that impede the actions to develop urban agriculture. In other words, these exchanges made the mobilization 

of various partners possible to effectively respond to the growing interest for this practice in the Montréal community.  
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Examples of BTER partnerships 

BTER works and collaborates closely with the City’s various business units and external partners to facilitate and accelerate the 
implementation of the Climate Plan action items. The following initiatives facilitate the sharing and developing of the expertise 
needed to tackle climate change. 
 

Division de la Transition écologique et innovation (DTEI) 

This division of the real estate planning and management collaborates with the BTER to deploy various ecological transition 
projects aligned with Actions 30 and 31 of the Climate Plan to reduce the ecological footprint of municipal buildings. 
 

Financial Services 

The Financial Services collaborates with the BTER in allocating 10% to 15% of the Ten-year capital works program (PDI) for 
projects related to adaptation to climate change. Also, the BTER provides support to the finance department for, among other 
things, the Climate Budget, the quantification of the impacts of climate change on the City’s finances, the analysis of scenarios, 
and climate risks. 
 

Committee of experts on climate change adaptation  

As set out in its Climate Plan 2020-2030, the BTER formed a committee of internal and external experts to develop verifiable 
indicators to track the City’s progress in terms of adaptation to climate change and urban resilience, work on which began in 2021. 
Also, the Committee is exploring new ways of improving the climate change adaptation and resilience strategy. 
 

Ouranos partnership 

An initial partnership agreement with Ouranos, a Québec-based consortium on regional climatology and climate change 
adaptation, was signed in 2017. By becoming an affiliate member, the City is consolidating an essential alliance such that it is 
prepared to better respond to climate change impacts by developing knowledge in climate adaptation and by triggering changes 
in practices while encouraging innovation. This partnership was renewed in June 2020 for a three-year period. Lastly, the City 
recently began collaborating with Ouranos to carry out work related to the financial quantification of climate change impacts on 
the City’s finances. 
 

Montréal Climate Partnership (MCP) 

This partnership began during the collaboration established in 2018-2019 by a group of philanthropic foundations, such as the 

Trottier Family Foundation and the Foundation of Greater Montreal, with the City of Montreal and the C40 organization for the 

development of the City’s Climate Plan 2020-2030. The main objective of this partnership is to mobilize key players in the Montreal 

community to help reduce GHG emissions by 55% by 2030 and to put the city on the path to carbon neutrality for 2050. The PCM 

is made up of a steering committee and working groups focused on the following themes: buildings, mobility, adaptation, business 

and citizen projects. 
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STRATEGIES AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

CLIMATE-RELATED RISKS 
 
Assessing the prospective financial impacts of climate  

The TCFD recommends that organizations assess the prospective risks and opportunities related to climate change. In other 

words, organizations will have to examine scenarios to assess the short-, medium-, and long-term impacts of climate change on 

their financial position, to consider such impacts when making strategic decisions and, lastly, to disclose these climate-related 

risks and opportunities, in full transparency, in their annual financial report. Although these scenarios cannot predict the future, 

they help to identify and assess the various potential and future impacts of climate change on the current financial position of the 

municipal administration. The scenario analysis tool, for both GHG emission reduction and adaptation, remains essential to 

conduct a proper evaluation, planning, and management of the strategic orientations, risks, and resilience of an organization.  

 

 

Climate risks under the TCFD 

The TCFD recommendations focus on two main climate risks, i.e., the physical risks and the transition risks. The extent and 

magnitude of climate change consequences depend not only on their severity and frequency but also on the degree of adaptation 

and on the speed at which the actions taken to transition to a low carbon economy materialize, thus, limiting the global warming 

to 1.5°C by the end of the century. 

 

Physical risks and those related to the ecological transition 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

At Ville de Montréal, the climate strategic 

orientations focus on both GHG emission reduction 

and adaptation to climate change. 

 

The City’s Climate Plan 2020-2030 provides more 

details on the actions taken toward the transition to 

a low carbon economy, including those related to 

transportation, buildings, and energy. The 

adaptation actions, for their part, are intended to 

preserve and maintain biodiversity, build resilience, 

and mobilize the municipal administration and 

Montréal community.  

 

 

 

 

Acute risks: Heatwaves, droughts, floods, raging 
forest fires, and cyclones. 

Chronic risks: Changes in precipitation patterns, 
rising average temperatures, and rising sea 
levels. 

Transition risks: Changes arising from global 

economies transitioning to low carbon use 

(policy, technologies, reputation, market). 

Source: Global Carbon Project (2017), based on Bank of England (2018) 
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Physical risks at Ville de Montréal 

Six climatic hazards  

The Climate Change Adaption Plan for the Agglomeration of Montréal 2015-2020 

(CCAPAM) identifies six climatic hazards whose impacts on the Montréal 

agglomeration’s territory and population are likely to be exacerbated by climate 

change. These hazards are chronic or acute by nature: Heavy rainfalls, heatwaves, 

floods, rising average temperatures, droughts, and destructive storms. 

 

Vulnerability analysis 

In addition, the CCAPAM provides a cartographic analysis of the vulnerabilities of the 

Montréal agglomeration. This analysis is based on the potential impacts of climatic 

hazards and considers the physical, territorial, environmental, and social sensitivities. 

 

Today, this analysis is reviewed as set out in Action 17 of the Climate Plan. This 

action will help improve the planning tools and urban planning regulations to promote 

the development of neighbourhoods on a human scale to adapt to climate change 

efficiently.  

 

Analysis of global warming impacts  

The CCAPAM has identified the qualitative and retrospective impacts based on a review of extreme external climate events having 

occurred over the past 30 years. These impacts are classified under four categories: Impacts on built infrastructure, impacts on 

the environment, socio-economic impacts, and impacts on municipal operations.  

 

The effects of global warming on the Montréal territory: The current pathway under 
the Ouranos RCP 8.522 pessimistic scenario 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
22 RCP (Representative Concentration Pathway). According to Wikipedia, RCP represents an approximation and is defined as the difference between the radiative forcing received and the 
radiative forcing issued by a given climate system. The RCP 8.5 scenario corresponds to a forcing of +8,5 W/M2. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Radiative_forcing. Consulted April 18, 2021. 

 
 

 
 
HEAVY 
RAINFALLS 

 

 

 
 
HEATWAVES 

 

 
 
FLOODS 

 
 

 
 
INCREASE IN 
TEMPERATURES 

 

 
 
DROUGHTS 
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Source: Ouranos. Climate portrait, www.ouranos.ca, September 20, 2021. 

1981-2010 2041-2070 2071-2100 

http://www.ouranos.ca/
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Extreme climate events will intensify and be more frequent in the future. The effects will be increasingly violent, successive, and 

cumulative and will lead in a short period to cascading events causing devastating repercussions on all of society, the environment, 

and the global economy. For this reason, the historical data on climate events is unfortunately not representative of the future 

climate, hence the importance of conducting a prospective assessment using the scenario analysis tool when assessing the risks 

and impacts of climate change.  
 

As with any organization, these physical risks are already being felt and will be more severe in the future by causing direct damage 

to municipal infrastructures and/or indirect impacts on the economy. The impacts will vary depending on the degree of global 

warming and geolocalization. The City’s Annual Financial Report presented for the year-end 2020 provides an assessment, at a 

global level, of these potential impacts on the City’s assets and liabilities and its revenues and expenses in a qualitative manner 

by using a hypothetical and pessimistic scenario.  
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Internal and external committees for assessing climate risks and 
impacts 
 

Since 2019, the River Flood Mitigation Committee has been continuing its work to assess and implement the municipal 

infrastructure and tools needed to prevent and mitigate the future consequences of floods on the Montréal community.  

 

In 2021, the Union des municipalités du Québec (UMQ) took steps to quantify the impacts of climate change on the municipal 

finances of Quebec cities. Thus, a committee was formed where Ville de Montréal, as a member, takes part in meetings to advance 

the work as part of the mandate entrusted to the firm of WSP. To this effect, a report will be published in the spring of 2022. 

 

In 2021, Ville de Montréal began to identify and assess corporate risks, including climate risks on a global scale. This exercise is 

being carried out with the various business units with the aim of setting up scorecards in place to identify and regularly monitor 

the City’s major risks while taking the climate aspect into account.  

 

In 2022, Hydro-Québec mandated Professor Benoît Robert of École Polytechnique de Montréal to undertake a risk analysis 

related to potential long-term power outages following extreme bouts of freezing rain in the Montréal region. Thus, an internal City 

working group will soon be created to take part in this work to assess the consequences of such power outages on municipal 

services or essential municipal networks. This work will be carried out in collaboration with various City business units, particularly 

the Civil Protection Centre, the BTER, the Financial Services, etc. Thanks to this work, the City will be able to take the proactive 

action steps needed to mitigate these risks. 

 

 

Transition risks 

The IPCC is encouraging countries to align their climate actions with a 1.5°C warming scenario rather than a 2°C scenario, to 

lower the global GHG emissions bar to 45%23 by 2030, and to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050. This global GHG emission 

reduction will prevent unprecedented damage to biodiversity, human beings, and economies. However, such a transition will 

involve a number of major changes, specifically the evolution and implementation of climate policies, technological climate 

advances, investments in green technologies, and market behaviours and preferences. The faster that global political transition 

actions materialize, the more the transition to low carbon will be orderly and the more the negative impacts on the economy will 

be less disruptive and more predictable.  

 

The transition risks have consequences that are similar, among other things, to indirect impacts on economic conditions. For 

example, the implementation of a carbon tax will increase the costs of materials, and in turn, this will affect the amounts of bids 

for public infrastructure work. This increase will also affect operating and capital expenses and the City’s debt and cost of 

borrowing. Although these risks have not currently been identified and assessed by the City, the ecological transition is one of the 

City’s strategic priorities.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
23 https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/chapter/spm/. 
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An example of the transportation electrification strategy 

By 2023, Montréal would like to expand and diversify the supply of electric transportation by 

developing more sustainable, affordable, and accessible mobility options. The renewed 

Transportation Electrification Strategy is based on a diverse range of methods and 

partnerships:  

▪ Deployment of a first Low Emission Zone (LEZ). 

▪ Installation of 600 new public charging stations. 

▪ Addition of 2,100 electric assisted Bixi bikes and 250 electric taxis. 

 

In September 2021, the BTER created a Municipal Electric Vehicle Charging (EV) Station 

Committee. The objectives of this Committee consist of planning the acquisition and 

optimizing the installation and use of charging stations for municipal electric vehicles (EVs). 

These objectives will be carried out in compliance with Ville de Montréal’s sustainable 

mobility and transportation electrification commitments, as set out in the Climate Plan 2020-

2030 and the Transportation Electrification Strategy 2021-2023. Lastly, the Committee’s 

work will help to identify the investments needed to carry out these objectives.  

 

 

Opportunities 

Climate change does not only present risks but also introduces opportunities. The TCFD identified five opportunity areas: Efficient 

use of resources, energy sources, products/services, markets, and resilience. These opportunities represent direct savings in 

medium- and long-term operating costs and they vary according to the regions, market, and industry in which an organization 

operates.  

 

At the City, these opportunities have not yet been assessed in the same way as physical or transition risks. However, in response 

to climate change, the City’s various business units are assessing and revising their ways of working to find innovative, 

sustainable, and economical solutions.  

 

Rainwater management team 

This team continues its work on establishing measures to reduce the impacts caused by different types of rain, which affect both 

citizens and the municipal administration at the best cost for the community. 

 

The purchasing department 

In September 2021, Ville de Montréal adopted a new responsible procurement policy. The policy provides a framework for the 

City’s purchases by favouring local, responsible, and social purchasing of goods and services. In particular, the purchasing 

process must satisfy environmental criteria with respect to GHG emissions, energy consumption, or carbon emissions of materials. 

This work will help contribute to the City’s GHG emission reduction and reach its targets in accordance with Action 43 of the 

Climate Plan 2020-2030. 
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MEASURES AND OBJECTIVES 

GHG inventories of the Montréal community 

Since 2013, Ville de Montréal has been compiling a GHG emissions inventory based on recognized international standards using 

the “Global Protocol for Community-Scale Greenhouse Gas Emission Inventories (GPC)” methodology published by the World 

Resources Institute (WRI), the C40, and the ICLEI. 

 

The GHG emissions inventory lists the estimated GHG emissions of the Montréal community, whose perimeter is limited to the 

Montréal agglomeration. The GHG emissions are compared to the reference year (1990), which serves as the basis for the 

reduction target.  

 

The GHG emissions are presented according to five activity sectors: Fixed sources of combustion, transportation, residual 

materials, industrial processes and product use (IPPU) and agriculture, including forestry and other land use (AFOLU). The fixed 

sources of combustion sector represent any form of energy consumed by the following subsectors: (1) residential, (2) commercial 

and institutional, (3) manufacturing and construction industries, (4) energy industries and (5) fugitive emissions from natural gas 

production and distribution systems. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Facts and findings  

Since 2013, the Montréal community’s GHG emissions have varied slightly from one year to the next. To that effect, a fluctuation 

was noted over the 2013-2018 period, such as the inventory for the year 2016 shows a reduction of 31% compared to the reference 

period 1990, whereas the inventory for the year 2018 displays results that are below the target of 2020, which is a reduction of 

GHG emissions of 30% compared to 1990. 

 

Several factors influence the GHG emissions of the Montréal community since they fluctuate, for example, based on 

meteorological events or on the economic activity specific to a given year.  

 

 

 

 

The evolution of GHG emissions of the Montréal community between 1990 and 2018 
and the possible pathways to reducing GHG emissions by 2030 
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The principal GHG emission reductions that explain this decrease since 1990 are attributable to the following events:  

▪ The progressive phase-out of fuel oil in the following subsectors: Residential, commercial, and institutional. 

▪ The closing of an oil refinery in the east end of the Island of Montréal (energy industries subsector). 

▪ The implementation and gradual improvement of biogas capture systems in engineered landfills (residual materials sector). 

 

 

GHG emissions in a prospective vision  

With respect to the 1.5°C warming target set out under the Paris Agreement, it is clear that the objectives will not be reached 

without the implementation of more ambitious actions to meet the City’s targets, such as the action items defined in the Montréal 

2030 strategic plan and Climate Plan 2020-2030. In addition, Ville de Montréal has a duty to act by setting an example for its 

community. While the GHG emissions of municipal activities count for less than 2% of those of the entire community, the City 

administration expects to reach carbon neutrality in 2040, ten years before the rest of the community. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

However, how to ensure that these climate promises are correctly aligned with the set targets and dates, and in the event of such 

targets are not achieved and in the prescribed time, who can be held accountable? What path or strategies and additional actions 

must be taken to reach these set targets? What additional financing is required to take the new steps needed to reach the targets? 

Based on the current actions and measures, what is the risk of not achieving these objectives? The Climate Budget is a counter-

intuitive solution and one of the governance and management tools that make it possible to ensure an alignment between the 

ongoing actions and strategies with the future GHG emission reduction targets of a city.  

 

 

The Climate Budget 

Since September 2021, Ville de Montréal and other international cities have been taking part in the Climate Budget Pilot organized 

by the C40 and led by the City of Oslo. This Pilot provides participating cities with practical advice on the various approaches to 

preparing a Climate Budget for their organization. Also, it provides cities with the chance to exchange, share experiences, and 

learn from cities that already have expertise in this area, such as the cities of Oslo and Stockholm. The Pilot includes two phases; 

the first phase was devoted in 2021 to creating a common understanding of the Climate Budget. The second phase, which will 

continue until December 2022, will include the development, implementation, and improvement of the use of the Climate Budget 

with participating cities. Accordingly, this Pilot will also provide the participating cities with the necessary tools for developing 

methodologies to help them implement a Climate Budget in their governance.  

 

The innovative approach of the Climate Budget of the City of Oslo 

The Climate Budget of the City of Oslo is part of a governance system that includes climate objectives in all decision-making 

processes while also being an integral part of the financial budgeting framework. This innovative approach has, to date, been 

successful, given that Oslo’s emissions have decreased, and it has reached its targets despite being one of the cities that has 

experienced some of the fastest economic growth in Europe.  

 

The Climate Budget has paved the way for Oslo to adopt more ambitious GHG emission reduction measures, i.e., achieving 95% 

of its GHG emission reduction targets by 2030 compared to 1990. Also, its long-term targets and objectives are specified in its 

Annual Financial Budget as well as in its Four-year financial budget.  

 

GHG emission reduction targets at Ville de Montréal  
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On an annual basis, the City estimates its GHG emission reductions for each action to be taken by 2030, takes then corrective 

measures when identifying gaps between the current action results and its target objectives of GHG emission reduction, plans the 

expenses required to implement the corrective actions and, lastly, determines which business unit is responsible for 

implementation.  

 

According to the City of Oslo, this process is critical, especially as part of initiatives to raise awareness in its community, define 

the financial support during the planning process, and evaluate and adjust the climate action. Accordingly, Oslo developed a 

number of measures and indicators to evaluate and monitor its actions to ensure that they comply with its objectives. Lastly, the 

City of Oslo annually discloses a progress report in full transparency to its community regarding the status of its GHG emissions 

while highlighting the benefits for its citizens. 

 

 

Performance indicators  

 

In 2021, Ville de Montréal conducted a series of activities to achieve most of its targets by 2030. 

 

 

 

 

 

The disclosure and rating of GHG emissions of large buildings 

In September 2021, a new regulation on the disclosure and rating of GHG emissions of large buildings was passed. To achieve 

a rapid and efficient implementation of the regulation, the BTER is supported by the Ministère de l’Énergie et des Ressources 

Naturelles to develop a single program, first in Montréal and eventually for the province. In order to adapt the disclosure tool to 

suit the requirements of the regulation, a collaboration was also established with Natural Resources Canada, responsible for 

Energy Star Portfolio Manager. In addition, other committees were created with energy providers to guide them in the new 

regulatory requirements and facilitate the identification and sharing of data with the building owners.  

 

The planting, maintenance, and protection of 500,000 trees  

The BTER also takes part, with the Service des grands parcs du Mont-Royal et des sports, in Steering Committee and in 

Committee member of the Urban Forestry Alliance. This Alliance, coordinated by the Société de verdissement du Montréal 

métropolitain (SOVERDI), contributes to carrying out Action 20 of the Climate Plan, which calls for the “Planting, maintenance, 

and protection of 500,000 trees” as a priority area to aid the most vulnerable to heatwaves. SOVERDI will coordinate the planting 

of 200,000 trees on private and institutional lands with the members of the Urban Forestry Alliance.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Examples of indicators set out in the Climate Plan 2020-2030 
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PERSPECTIVES AND NEXT STEPS 

The year 2021 was marked by multiple climate and other events. On the one hand, as regards climate risks, the Intergovernmental 

Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), the World Economic Forum, and the World Resources Institute (WRI) have clearly drawn up 

an alarming portrait of the future impacts of climate change, such as on the humanity, the ecosystems, and the world economy. 

On the other hand, several international events have taken place, in particular the COP26 in Glasgow, where the climate urgency 

facts and findings prompted the countries to come back to the discussion table in 2022 to take concrete and long-term actions to 

limit the global warming to 1.5°C as set out by the Paris Agreement in 2015. As well, during the COP26, the International 

Sustainability Standards Board (ISSB) was founded, and one of its main offices is located in Montréal. Lastly, with respect to the 

climate-related physical risks, British Columbia, one Canadian province that was most affected by the extreme climate change 

impacts in 2021, made us realize that Montréal could just as well be subject to such extreme climate events, hence the importance 

of pursuing the work undertaken by the City to reduce its GHG emission and adapt efficiently and effectively to climate change. 

 

Accordingly, this year, the City plans to begin its quantitative financial assessment work on the impacts of climate change. This 

work will be carried out based on the climate hazards identified by the City, on vulnerabilities (including social, environmental, and 

physical) and with a prospective climate vision, i.e., climate scenarios. Several internal and external partners will be involved in 

completing this project, particularly the Ouranos organization and other specialized firms.  

 

Also, the City continues to gradually implement the Climate Test in all of the projects included in its Ten-year capital works program 

(PDI 2022-2031) and allocates 10% to 15% of its PDI to projects related to adaptation to climate change. Furthermore, as part of 

the work undertaken by the City with the C40 for the Climate Budget, the City is currently analyzing the possibility of beginning 

the work to integrate this Budget as a governance and management tool. These actions and orientations are examples of what is 

set out under the City’s Climate Plan.  

 

Finally, Montréal will continue its work with the Canadian Municipal Network “CMN for TCFD’’, the ISSB, the Public Sector 

Accounting Board (PSAB), and the CPA Order of Canada and take, whenever the opportunities arise, an active part in establishing 

the accounting norms and standards regarding the climate-related financial disclosure.  
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